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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of
China New Economy Fund Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2022 (the “Year").

The Company is a closed-ended investment company established on
1 February 2010. By investing substantially in both private and public
enterprises within a diversified portfolio supported by the new economies
of Greater China, the Company is devoted to achieving long-term capital
appreciation for professional investors.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

During the Year, the Company maintained a long-term investment strategy
in both public and private equities. The Company held three investments
in Hong Kong-listed companies, five private equity securities investments,
one unlisted bond, one limited partnership fund and one open-ended
fund as of 31 December 2022. One of our major investments is in the
financial printing sector focusing on the Hong Kong IPO market. The
Company reported net loss attributable to shareholders of HK$52,745,075
during the Year, which consisted of the net change in fair value loss of
HK$39,041,595 taken on the investment positions in the portfolio.

The investment performance of the Company during the Year is affected
by the slowdown in the Chinese economy and the rising volatility of the
global stock market due to the global pandemic. As at 31 December
2022, the Company reported an audited net asset value of approximately
HK$0.11 per share. The net loss is mainly attributable to both net
unrealised loss of HK$27,794,781 and net realised loss of HK$11,246,814
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss mainly as a result of
recent Hong Kong stock market volatility. The Company will continue to
monitor investments cautiously due to recent uncertain market conditions.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

During the Year, the outbreak of the coronavirus disease (the
“COVID-19") and its variants continued to spread throughout the world.
However, as the harmfulness of COVID-19 weakened, many countries
began to treat it as an endemic disease and no longer isolated COVID-19
patients. China adjusted key parts of its anti-epidemic strategy in January
2023 to restore business activities in various industries. The Company
believes that the pandemic is coming to an end and the national economy
is rebounding.

China adopted strict public health measures since 2020 and achieved
effective results, maintaining these policies throughout 2022. According
to data from the National Bureau of Statistics of China, China’s gross
domestic product (the “GDP") in 2022 increased to RMB121,021 billion
compared to the corresponding period, which represents an increase of
3.0% compared to 2021. The GDP of the first quarter of 2022 climbed
4.8%, slowing down to 0.4%, 3.9%, and 2.9% in the remaining quarters
of 2022, respectively, on a year-to-year basis.

The Hang Seng Index reduced by 15.5% in 2022. At the same time, the
Hang Seng Chinese Enterprises Index, which dropped 18.6%, performed
worse than the Hang Seng Index. During the “Post COVID-19" period,
the U.S. inflation growth rate accelerated to over a 40-year high, which
was much higher than the market's expectation. The United States Federal
Reserve Board (the “U.S. Federal Reserve”) hiked interest rates seven
times in 2022, raising them from 0.25% to 4.5% by the end of 2022.
Since the inflation growth rate seems to have peaked, we expect that
the U.S. Federal Reserve may reduce the speed of interest rate hikes or
even keep interest rates at a certain level in 2023. The U.S. GDP grew at
an annualized rate of 2.9% in the fourth quarter of last year, while GDP
increased by 2.1% throughout 2022.

During the “Post COVID-19" period, the core theme of the entire world is
“Return to normal after the epidemic.” China adjusted key parts of its anti-
epidemic strategy. These impacts will speed up GDP growth in China and
the entire world directly. The recovery of business in 2023 would be hugely
challenging, and recovery may lead to dramatic growth.
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The focus of the Company is to invest in listed securities in short to medium
terms and will continue to seek opportunities to invest in listed companies
and different fields with high potential. During the Year, the Company
has invested in Hanvey Group Holdings Limited (8219.HK) (“Hanvey”) is
an investment holding company principally engaged in the design and
development, manufacturing and distribution of watch products. Hanvey
intended to focus on the core business and to strengthen their product
design and development capability in order to maximise their long term
returns.

The other focus of the Company is to invest in private equity securities,
long fund and other unlisted investments in long term. During the Year,
the Company newly invested in two funds. Goldstone 1 LPF is a limited
partnership fund which seeks to achieve maximum capital appreciation
over the life of the fund through equity investments. SWK Dynamic OFC
is private open-ended fund company with variable capital and long-
biased focusing on Hong Kong and China equity market. The Company
will continue to look for further investment opportunities on unlisted
investments to benefit our investors and shareholders. The Company
believes invested in different aspects shall diversify the risk of investments
and will potentially bring greater return in long terms with the upcoming
reform alongside with listed investments in portfolio.

The Company will continue to deploy an investment strategy focusing
on Greater China and other global major markets. With our professional
investment and risk management team, we are confident to capture
valuable investment opportunities to maximize profits for our
shareholders.

Huang Bin
=i
Co-Chairman
WIS FE

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R W

INVESTMENT REVIEW

The Company held eleven investments as of 31 December 2022,

comprising three investments in Hong Kong-listed companies, five private

equity securities investments, one unlisted bond, one limited partnership

fund and one open-ended fund.

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Rule 21.12 of the Rules

Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Company discloses its ten largest

investments and all individual investments with value exceeding 5% of the

Company’s gross assets with brief description of the investee companies as

follows:

At 31 December 2022

Listed Equity Securities - Hong Kong

RELE

ARABR2022F 12 A3 AEE+—EERE -
ERRRE-EEELTARKRE NELER
BEHIRE —IHFLWES  —EBRER
Bk —ERBRAER -

REBEHEXZAARARZSF LHRA
(TEMHRAN B 2112557 AR E - AAF]
BEE+ASAKRENAEERNEEBRAR
RIBEBESHNNE  BRAKREARNER
fatnT

720229128 31H

L EEEE &

Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of issued (apital Market  gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
Bek BER REEE
i FREEST  REMR FBRE/  A0ARE  BU/BM GRDAE
FREQRLE Rib% Rt EARA A i (E%8) EERE Bs EEEMM
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(K1) (K2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAL TiAn TAL T
(8)  Hanvey Group Holdings Limited The Cayman lslands 32,100,000 19.45% 19,113 10272 (8.841) HKS7.66 - 6.88
Ordinary shares of millon
HKS0.1 each
EREEARERLA RERE 32,100000% 7,660,000
SRAE B
01T BBk
(b)  Orient Securities International The Cayman Islands 6,210,000 4.99% 1456 1,646 190 HK$18.98 - 110
Holdings Limited Ordinary shares of milion
HK$0.05 each
R EFARARARAT HEES 6,210,000 18,980,000
SRAE BT
005 EBR
() Jiading International Group Holding Bermuda 1,780,000 0.17% 381 34 37 HK$0.10 - 0.3
Limited (Formerly known as Ordinary shares of millon
Famova Group Holdings Limited) HK$0.004 each
ERAREEIRARAT ARE 1,780000% 100,000
(HREZEEERARAT) BRAE BT
0004772 &k

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2022



Private Equity Security — British Virgin Islands

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S B DT

REREES -RBEXHE

Dividend % of
Proportion Net asset received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of issued capital Market ~ gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
K R i3
ift fRcdr  REDF FERNE/ KRR BH/BR ER0AE
FREAAER i Rigt  EALH A [ (£8) EERE Re  EEEAM
(Note 1) (Note2)
(1) (Hit2)
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL TR ThL Tén
(d)  Gransing Financial Group Limited Biitsh Virgin Isands 64 shares 18.08% 1637 1598 (30409) HK$26.09 - 10.69
of USDT each milion
AreREEERLTA RERAES 64k 26,090,000
BREEIZT2 R B
Private Equity Securities — Hong Kong HEREEZES-FE
Dividend % of
Proportion Net asset received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of issued capital Market ~ gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year ~ Company
R £ NEEE
it fRCEG  RED FERUE/ AEE  BR/ER EANRE
FRELTER HI%Y LUES S U] A [} (§8) BERE RE  EEEAM
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(i) ()
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Tn Tin Tin Tin
(&) 1Pro Financial Press Limited Hong Kong 17,493 shares 1997% 34999 26,793 (8,208) HK$24.12 - 1793
millon
ESHETRARAT B 1743 % 24,120000
A
() Gransing Finance Limited Hong Kong 2779 570 shares 19.90% 16,876 14,655 22 HK$18.58 - 981
millon
AREEARAT B 27185108 18,580,000
A
(o) Help U Credit Finance Limited Hong Kong 37,000 shares 19.95% 19,000 0 (19,000) HK§12.64 - 0
millon
TABHARAT 3 37.00% 12,640,000
iy

FETEEREBR AR / FIR 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
IR wm e AT

Unlisted Bond - The Cayman Islands

FLmEF-HEHE

Interest % of
received/ gross
Unrealised accrued assets
Market  gain/(loss) Yield per Maturity during of the
Name of issuer Place of incorporation Cost value  recognised annum date the Year Company
BER RAEE
*ERNE/ B/t EART
FREAAAR MY B i (B8) FHEE H#A NE BREERAL
(Note 1)
()
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000
ThEn TiEn T Thn
() Orient Payment Group Holdings The Cayman Islands 10,500 11,000 500 10 31 July 2022 1,658 7.36
Limited
RAXNERERARLA REEE W0ETANE
Funds - Hong Kong He-F#
Dividend % of
received/ gross
Proportion Unrealised Netasset  receivable assets
of investee's gain/(loss)  attributable to the during of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation  capital owned Cost Marketvalue  recognised Company the Year Company
Rk BER RAEE
REDNT RERNE/ ARAEE  Bh/EK AR
fiREARER AME IS uNid] B [l (58) BERE ks BEEEAML
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(k1) (M3k2)
HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T T TiEL TEn
(i) Goldstone 1 LPF Hong Kong 81.28% 23,748 22,151 (1,597) HK$22.15 million - 14.83
(Formerly known as Gransing 1 LPF)
Sh-HERABES {2 2,150,000 ¢
(FIRER-%ERARES)
() SWK Dynamic OFC Hong Kong 7.58% 13,300 13,610 310 HKS$13.61 million - 9.1
(20 13,610,000/

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2022



At 31 December 2021

Listed Equity Securities - Hong Kong

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S B DT

R20215128318

L REEE &

Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset received/ gross
of investees Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) tothe during of the
Name of investee incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company theyear  Company
BEf BE3 REEE
ift RELT FERNE/  ADEEE  SR/BR EADE
FREQRER BB FRERAROFE  EAkb S (32! i) KEFRE RE #BEERAM
(Note 4) (Note 3)
(H&z4) (Hizt3)
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK§'000
THETL TR TERL TiEn
Kingland Group Holdings Limited The Cayman lslands 43,240,000 5.36% 10910 9,729 (1,181) HK$2.07 - 840
ordinary shares of milion
HK$0.01 each
SREELRARAA RERS 43,240,000/ 2070000
ghaE BT
00T EBR
InvesTech Holdings Limited The Cayman lslands 2,129,700 2.53% 5177 3812 (1369 RMB8.80 - 39
ordinary shares of millon
USD0.01 each
FABRERL AEES 2128,700% ARH
BhmE 8,800,0007C
001X ERR
State Innovation Holdings Limited The Cayman lslands 26,617,500 9.86% 5,668 3,460 (2,208) HKS$7.75 - 299
(Formerly known as Beaver Group ordinary shares of milion
(Holding) Company Limited) HKS0.1 each
ANARERAA RERE 26617500% 7,750,000
(HRXSEE (ER) ARAT) ShRAE £

0BT ERR
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Management Discussion and Analysis
IR wm e AT

Listed Equity Security — Australia

L - N

Dividend % of
Proportion Net liability ~ received/ gross
of investee’s Unrealised ~ attributable  receivable assets
Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) tothe during of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value  recognised  Company theyear ~ Company
REEE
ErfiRE BRIASE ADTEE CH/BR EADE
FREATER BAIAR FRCRORMFE ARERLH B nE bE/(68) @ SEFE RE HEEAM
(Note ) (Note 3)
(hita) (W)
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TAT TATL TAT TR
Crater Gold Mining Limited Australia 35,000,000 2.85% 2,669 331 700 AUD(044) - 291
Ordinary shares milion
B 35,000,000% (440,000)
Private Equity Security - British Virgin Islands REREES - REELHE
Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised ~ attributable  receivable assets
Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value recognised  Company year  Company
REEE
FECRT ERAFRE ERIASE ANGEE Ch/EW ERLE
FrREARAR AL BfiFE ARERLA RE HE WE/(BR) EERE RS #EEEAM
(Note 4) (Note 3)
(Wska)  (W3E3)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
Gransing Financial Group Limited British Virgin Islands 64 shares 18.08% 46,377 18,300 (28077)  HK$26.77 - 15.80
of USD1 each million
ARe s TARLA ABRUES ol ERaE 26,770,000
B3 v B
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Private Equity Securities - Hong Kong

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S B DT

REREEZ-EE

Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset ~received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised ~ attributable ~ receivable assets
Particular of (apital Market ~ gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value  recognised ~ Company year — Company
REEE
FRiRE BRIAER  ROARE  BH/R% GANE
FRELER AMHLE FRCRTROHE  QTEARH Ak wRWE/(BE  EERE Re GEEAEMM
(Note 4) (Note3)
lik:2) (H3k3)
HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TiEn Thn TiEn Tikn
1Pro Financial Press Limited Hong Kong 7137 shares 1990% 15,000 15,489 489 HK$2.41 - 1337
million
EAHELRERLT B 113750 f5 2410000
(HBESHENRARAT) o
Help U Credit Finance Limited Hong Kong 37,000 shares 19.95% 19,000 4868 (1413 HK$13.30 - 420
million
FABBERAR B 370005 f 13300000
B

Unlisted Bond — The Cayman Islands

HFLHEF-FHEHE

Interest % of
received/ gross
Unrealised accrued assets
Market gain/(loss) Yield per Maturity during of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation Cost value recognised annum date the year Company
REEE
BRAASE BY/EH  hBREE
FRENEER eI 28 nE k(58 FlhEx )] Mg &EEAM
(Note 4)
(Bzta)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000
Tk Fhn FEn ThT
Oriental Payment Group Holdings The Cayman lslands 15,000 14,989 (1) 10 24May2022 908 12,94

Limited
ERTAEERRARLT

RERE

20024657248

FETEEREBR AR / FIR 2022 13
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R W

Promissory Notes — Hong Kong REZZ-FE
Interest % of
received/ gross
Unrealised accrued assets
Market gain/(loss) Yield per Maturity during of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation Cost value recognised annum date the year Company
REEE
BRARER B/t AT
FRENRER AmR LY 2 HE k& (58 Ehix Eilf Mg #EEEAM
(Note 4)
(R&t4)
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 % HK$'000
Tk TEn TEn TEn
Gransing Finance Limited Hong Kong 11,500 11,499 (1) 8 8February 2022 365 993
ARERARLR 33 02%2A88
iPro Financial Press Limited Hong Kong 9,000 8,877 (123) 8 21June2022 20 7.66
ESMELRERAA (30 W256A21E
Notes: B 5

(1) The unrealised gain/(loss) recognised represented the changes in fair value of the (M

respective investments during the Year.

(2) The calculation of net assets/(liability) attributable to the Company is based on the (2)
latest published interim/annual reports of the respective investments at the end of each

reporting period.

(3) The calculation of net assets attributable to the Company is based on the latest financial (3)
information/statements of the respective investments at the end of each reporting

period.

4) The unrealised gain/(loss) recognised represented the changes in fair value of the (4)

respective investments during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

A brief description of the business and financial information of the

investments is as follows:

(a

Hanvey Group Holdings Limited (“Hanvey”) is an investment holding
company principally engaged in the design and development,
manufacturing and distribution of watch products. The audited loss
attributable to shareholders of Hanvey for the financial year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$10,646,000 and the
audited net assets attributable to shareholders of Hanvey as at 31
December 2022 was approximately HK$39,377,000. Hanvey will
continue to focus on the core business, take efforts in strengthening
their product design and developing capability to maximise the long
term returns of the shareholders of Hanvey. The fair value of the
investment in Hanvey is based on quoted market bid prices.

Orient Securities International Holdings Limited (“Orient”) is an
investment holding company principally engaged in the provision
of brokerage service, underwriting and placing service, margin
financing service and money lending service. The unaudited profit
attributable to shareholders of Orient for the twelve months ended
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$19,264,000 and the
unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of Orient as at 31
December 2022 was approximately HK$380,283,000. Orient will
stick to its robust operational strategies, strictly control costs, actively
expand business, and strive to provide better quality products and
services. Orient will also capture the development opportunities
to create better returns to their shareholders. The fair value of the
investment in Orient is based on quoted market bid prices.

Jiading International Group Holdings Limited (“Jiading”) is an
investment holding company mainly engaged in advertising
business. The unaudited loss attributable to shareholders of Jiading
for the six months ended 30 September 2022 was approximately
HK$6,737,000 and the unaudited net assets attributable to
shareholders of Jiading as at 30 September 2022 was approximately
HK$60,277,000. Jiading's senior management is confident on
the development of its advertising business and will continue to
strengthen its sales and marketing teams for providing cost effective
marketing and advertising solutions to its clients as well as enhancing
its overall operation efficiency. The fair value of the investment in
Jiading is based on quoted market bid prices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Gransing Financial Group Limited (“Gransing Financial”) is principally
engaged in provision of quality brokerage, corporate finance, asset
management, money lending and financial adviser services to
institutional and individual investors in Hong Kong and Mainland
China through its subsidiaries. With the enhancement of artificial
intelligence ("A.l.") technology, Gransing Financial launched
several new services including the online account opening services
for new customers in Hong Kong and China. Moreover, by the
help of advanced intelligent technology, Gransing Financial’s A.l.
analyst would serve their clients with stock monitoring, investment
strategies and stock scoring services. All the above would improve
Gransing Financial’s operation efficiency and earn more new
potential clients. The fair value of the investment in Gransing
Financial is based on valuation by independent valuer.

iPro Financial Press Limited (“iPro”) is principally engaged in
financial printing services, production of announcements such as
IPO prospectus and financial reports, and provision of venues for
financial related forums. The fair value of the investment in iPro is
based on valuation by independent valuer.

Gransing Finance Limited (“Gransing Finance”) is engaged in the
provision of money lending. Gransing Finance is holding by Gransing
Financial and which is the sole shareholder of the Company. The fair
value of the investment in Gransing Finance is based on valuation by
independent valuer.

Help U Credit Finance Limited (“Help U") is principally engaged in
money lending business in Hong Kong. Help U is a money lender
and provides secured and unsecured loans to both individuals and
corporations. The fair value of the investment in Help U is based on
valuation by independent valuer.

Oriental Payment Group Holdings Limited (“Oriental Payment”)
is an investment holdings Company mainly engaged in merchant
acquiring business. Oriental Payment issued a bond to the Company
which outstanding bond size is HK$10.5 million, with coupon
of 10% per year and matured in July 2022. The fair value of the
investment in the bond is based on the latest transaction. During the
Year, the bond has been sold and deposit has been received from an
independent third party. As at 31 December 2022, the transaction is
pending to be completed.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

()  Goldstone 1 LPF (“Goldstone 1") is a limited partnership fund.
Goldstone 1 seeks to achieve maximum capital appreciation over
the life of the Limited Partnership Fund through equity investments,
specifically, investments in IPOs on securities to be listed on the Stock
Exchange and in private placements by companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. The fair value of the investment in Goldstone 1 is based
on net asset value.

()  SWK Dynamic OFC ("SWK") is private open-ended fund company
with variable capital. The strategy of SWK is Long-biased focusing
on Hong Kong and China equity market. The fair value of the
investment in SWK is based on net asset value.

The top investments with realised gain and loss for the Year are
summarised as below:
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—EFRABET A REEDA
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()  SWK Dynamic OFC ([SWK ) i —R#EH
AEEANFLARBRKNES AR - SWK
WRBEARMRERRNEERPERRETS -
R SWK B3 E A FETEREEFE

H o
Ea

WAEEHEE BTSSR BAREH
IS ARNE

Top realised gain for the Year AFEECSRKE
Name of investment Realised gain
REAR 28RS
HK$'000
T
Crater Gold Mining Limited Crater Gold Mining Limited 320
Top three realised loss for the Year EEE=ZRCBRER
Name of investment Realised loss
REAR E#BREE
HK$'000
FHET
State Innovation Holdings Limited Bl RHZE AR B R A A 10,046
Lerado Financial Group Limited BEemEEEGR AR 5,115
Dongfang Modern Agriculture Holdings Limited ~ R A5 IRMA B EIEREFEER A A 4,000
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING

The Company has maintained a sufficient cash position which will allow it
to capture opportunities with promising returns in both listed and private
equities.

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio, defined as total borrowings
divided by shareholders’ equities, was nil (31 December 2021: Nil). As at
31 December 2022, the Company has no margin payables to brokers (31
December 2021: Nil).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
Year (2021: Nil).

CHARGES ON COMPANY'’S ASSET AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no pledged Hong Kong listed
securities to secure the margin payables to the brokers (31 December
2021: Nil).

There were no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On the listing date on 6 January 2011, the Company completed a share
placement and a total of 303,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
were placed at a price of HK$1.03 per share for a total cash consideration,
excluding the related issue expenses, for approximately HK$312.1 million.
Subsequent to the listing, the Company had acquired additional capital
by completion of rights issue and placing of new shares under general
mandate. As at 31 December 2022, the capital of the Company comprises
of 1,319,700,274 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RIGHTS ISSUE

Rights issue on the basis of one rights share for every two shares

On 25 February 2022, the Company had raised an approximately HK$74
million, net of expenses, by way of the rights issue of 432,107,443 rights
shares to the qualifying shareholders at a subscription price of HK$0.18
per rights share on the basis of one rights share for every two shares
(closing price of the shares of the Company was HK$0.25 as at the date
of announcement of the rights issue). The Company was intended to
apply approximately HK$62.9 million, and HK$11.1 million, representing
approximately 85% and 15% of the net proceeds, towards investment
in two funds, one of which is an opportunity fund with investment focus
on distress assets and shares in suspended listed companies with assets
or projects in Hong Kong, the PRC or Taiwan while the another fund
with investment focus on projects in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area and general working capital of the Company. Details of
the rights issue were set out in the announcements of the Company dated
7 January 2022, 12 January 2022, 15 February 2022 and 24 February
2022 and prospectus dated 25 January 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company has applied HK$62.9 million
towards investment including limited partnership fund Goldstone 1 LPF,
Open-ended fund SWK Dynamic OFC and other listed company equities as
intended. The opportunity fund with investment focus on distress assets
and shares in suspended listed companies with assets or projects in Hong
Kong, the PRC or Taiwan has failed to be established since they are unable
to find suitable investment manager. On the other hand, the Company has
applied HK$11.1 million towards general working capital of the Company
as intended.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s listed
shares during the Year.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2022, the Company made no capital expenditure or
any other commitments (31 December 2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the Year, the Company did not acquire or dispose of any
subsidiaries or associated companies (2021: Nil).

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company has eleven investments as of 31 December 2022,
comprising of equity securities listed in Hong Kong, private equities,
unlisted bond, limited partnership fund and open-ended fund. The largest
one held by the Company is in the financial printing sector focusing in the
Hong Kong IPO market.

The rest of the net proceeds gained will be applied by the Board and the
Investment Manager in making investments according to the investment
objective, policies and restrictions of the Company and the requirements
of the Articles of Association of the Company, the Listing Rules and the
investment management agreement. Any proceeds not deployed are
placed in bank deposits or invested in money market instruments or money
market funds.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had six full-time employees
(31 December 2021: seven full-time employees). All of the Company’s
employees were based in Hong Kong.

The Company establishes its remuneration policy by making reference to
the prevailing market conditions and a performance-based reward system.
The policy is periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory provident
fund, salaries increment, discretionary bonuses and share options may
be awarded to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$3,885,403 (31 December 2021: HK$3,232,367).

FOREIGN CURRENCY FLUCTUATION

The Board believes that foreign exchange risks are minimal as the
Company mainly uses the Hong Kong dollar to carry out its business
transactions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There has been no material event affecting the Company since the end of
reporting year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the "Audit Committee”)
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chong Ching Hoi (being the chairman with
professional qualifications in accountancy), Mr. Leung Wai Lim, Mr. Sun
Boquan and Mr. Tong Yun Lung.

The summary of duties and works of the Audit Committee is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board hereby announces that the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Wednesday, 24 May 2023 to Tuesday, 30 May 2023,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM"), all transfers of shares, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04, 33/F.,
Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong
Kong for registration no later than 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 23 May 2023.
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Profiles of Directors

ES=EF

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gu Xu (“Mr. Gu"), aged 58, the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, is responsible for the provision of leadership to the Company’s
business development and daily management generally. Mr. Gu was
appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 28 May 2015 and has been
appointed as executive Director of the Company since 25 November
2010. He was also the Chairman of the Company from 28 May 2015
to 10 January 2022. Mr. Gu completed a bachelor’s degree majoring in
Economics from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 1986.
He further received a master’s degree majoring in Economics from the
same university in 1989 and a master’s degree majoring in Business
Administration awarded jointly by Fudan University and The University
of Hong Kong in 2003. Mr. Gu has accumulated 27 years’ experience
in asset management, investment and financial management in both
financial conglomerate and private company. He is the chairman of £/&
HRIFEEIEAFR AT (Shanghai Dongsheng Investment Management
Co., Ltd.). Mr. Gu was independent supervisor of &/l & gh A E XD B
PR /A &) (Suzhou Financial Leasing Co., Ltd) from May 2016 to May 2022.
Mr. Gu was an independent non-executive director of COSCO SHIPPING
Development Co., Ltd. (2866.HK), a company listed both in Hong Kong
and Shanghai, from March 2018 to August 2019. Furthermore, Mr. Gu
was the president of Henan Zhong Yuan Lian Chuang Investment Fund
Management Company Limited from October 2015 to December 2018.
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Mr. Chan Cheong Yee ("Mr. Chan”), aged 59, has been appointed
as an executive Director since 1 June 2013. Mr. Chan is the managing
director of Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Chan is
currently a licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.
Mr. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of
Business Administration of The University of South Florida in the United
States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in securities, fund
management, corporate management, corporate finance and managing
listed investment companies under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules. Mr.
Chan is currently an executive director of China Innovation Investment
Limited (1217.HK), China Investment and Finance Group Limited (1226.
HK), China Investment Development Limited (204.HK), Capital VC Limited
(2324.HK) and Goldstone Investment Group Limited (901.HK), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan
was re-designated as a non-executive director of China Trend Holdings
Limited (8171.HK) on 1 December 2020, a company listed on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange. He was an executive director of Alpha Returns Group
PLC, an investment company listed on AIM of London Stock Exchange,
from May 2013 to April 2018. Mr. Chan was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Bingo Group Holdings Limited (8220.HK) in
August 2007, and redesignated as an executive director from April 2009
to September 2018. He was an executive director of National Investments
Fund Limited (in liquidation) (1227.HK) before the winding up order
was granted against the company on 8 February 2021. He was also an
executive director of Core Economy Investment Group Limited (339.HK)
from January 2021 to June 2021.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Bin (“Mr. Huang”), aged 57, has been appointed as a
nonexecutive Director and the Chairman of the Company since 10 January
2022, and became the Co-Chairman of the Board alongside Mr. Choi Chit
Sze Jackson with effect from 8 February 2022. He is currently a director
and general manager of CITIC International Assets Management Limited
and CITIC Merchant Enterprise Management Company Limited (# {5
BM¥EEE AR QA respectively, and has extensive professional
experience in fund and asset management as well as investment banking
and direct investments. Mr. Huang previously joined CITIC Securities and
established CITIC Merchant Enterprise through cooperation, which is
driven by specific projects and supported by market-oriented operation
to identify a unique business model that integrates investment businesses
with comprehensive financing services, thereby providing international
corporate clients with comprehensive solutions. After years of experience
in working abroad and as a visiting scholar, such as Crédit Agricole
Corporate and Investment Bank in France, Yaxin Finance in Hong Kong
and subsidiaries of Scotia Capital in Canada, Mr. Huang joined the
Chinese General Chamber of Commerce and the Guangdong-Hongkong-
Macao Bay Area Entrepreneurs Union. He is the executive vice chairman
of the Union and in charge of technology and financial sector as well.
In order to give further play to the regional advantage of “Leveraging
Hong Kong's Advantages, Meeting the Country’s Needs”, Mr. Huang
organized Mainland government-owned enterprises and local state-owned
enterprises in Hong Kong to set up special funds. These funds jointly carry
out coordination work in compliance with the “belt and road” initiative,
while promoting the development of “Guangdong-Hongkong- Macao
Bay Area” based on Hong Kong. Besides implementing the transformation
of technological innovation and achievement, these funds focus on
introducing advanced technologies, and incubating industries. Mr.
Huang graduated from the Department of Naval Architecture and Marine
Engineering of Harbin Engineering University, and subsequently received
the training from the European Economic Community Visiting Scholars
Program and the business management training from Northwestern
University in the United States of America. Mr. Huang is currently a non-
executive director of Ban Loong Holdings Limited (30.HK), a company
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange. Mr. Huang is also currently a
non-executive director and chairman of Goldstone Capital Group Limited
(1160.HK), a company listed on the main board of Stock Exchange, and
China United Venture Investment Limited (8159.HK), a company listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. From 19 March 2020 to 2 December
2021, Mr. Huang was the chairman and a non-executive director of
Lamtex Holdings Limited (in liquidation) (1041.HK), a company previously
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listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. From 3 September 2019
to 16 October 2020, Mr. Huang was an executive director of GTI Holdings
Limited (in liquidation) (3344.HK), a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson, aged 25, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director since 8 February 2022. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree from University College London. He is the director of 1 {= B 8
P EEIE B R QR (CITIC Merchant Enterprise Management Company
Limited) and he is also a director of Sunwah Group. He has been elected
as a Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Outstanding Young
Entrepreneur in 2020 by the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area Entrepreneurs Union.

Mr. Choi Koon Ming, aged 54, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 8 February 2022. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from
the University of British Columbia. He has over 26 years of experience
in the financing activities of corporate and property mortgage, real
estate development and property investment, as well as over 21 years
of experience in financial services. Mr. Choi Koon Ming has been an
executive director of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (”Sunwah
Kingsway") a company listed on the main board (“Main Board”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) under stock
code 188 since 2000 and the chief executive officer of Sunwah Kingsway
since 2010. Mr. Choi Koon Ming is also an independent non-executive
director of EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board under stock code 3860 since 2021. He was also
a director and chief executive officer of Sunwah International Limited
(“SIL"), which was listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX"). SIL
was privatized and delisted from the TSX on 14 June 2021. Currently Mr.
Choi Koon Ming was a member of the People’s Consultative Committee
of Jiangsu Province, the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Choi Koon Ming
is the uncle of Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson, a non-executive director of the
Company and a brother of Mr. Choi Koon Shum, one of the substantial
shareholder of Sunwah Kingsway and the Company with the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Wang Dingben (“Mr. Wang”), aged 46, has been appointed as a
non-executive Director since 9 June 2020. Mr. Wang has over 12 years
of extensive experience in commercial and capital markets in Mainland
China, Hong Kong and Southeast Asia. He is currently a director of Henghe
Investment Development Group (Cambodia) Company Limited, a company
engaged in real estate investment, property development and hotel
management in Cambodia.

Ms. Xiao Ruimei (“Ms. Xiao"”), aged age 58, has been appointed as a
non-executive Director since 8 July 2022. Ms. Xiao graduated from Renmin
University of China with a Bachelor of Laws in 1985. Ms. Xiao received a
Master of Business Administration from Guanghua School of Management
in Peking University in 2003. From 1999 to 2000, Ms. Xiao was a Senior
Media Visiting Scholar at Guanghua School of Management, Peking
University. Ms. Xiao was a visiting scholar at the School of International
and Public Affairs, Columbia University, United States of America from
2017 to 2018. From 1985 to 2001, Ms. Xiao served as director and
editorial board member of the Economic Department of China News
Service. From 2001 to 2011, Ms. Xiao was the founder, deputy editor, and
vice president of £¥ 7% #i 22 # (Economic Observers), and vice chairman
of 4% 75 852 4k % B BR 2 7] (Economic Observers Newspaper Company
Limited). Since 2011, Ms. Xiao is the vice president of A B ¥ & 8 s 4L
(China Review News Agency). Ms. Xiao received the [ 77 B3 4% | FFq 42
("China News Award"” Critic Award) in 1997.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi (“Mr. Chong”), aged 40, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since 22 December 2017.
He is the chairman of each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee as well as a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chong graduated from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology with a bachelor degree of Business Administration
in Accounting in November 2004. He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has more than
15 years of experience in audit, accounting, financial reporting and
compliance. Mr. Chong was the chief financial officer and company
secretary of Hao Bai International (Cayman) Limited (8431.HK), a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, from March 2016 to April
2021 and was responsible for its compliance and corporate governance,
preparing group’s consolidated financial statements as well as reviewing
and implementing effective financial policies and internal control
procedures. Mr. Chong is currently the company secretary of Energy
International Investments Holdings Limited (0353.HK), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from August 2022.
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Mr. Leung Wai Lim (“Mr. Leung”), aged 50, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 10 October 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Leung
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from University of Wales in United
Kingdom in July 1995. He was admitted to practise law as a solicitor in
Hong Kong in August 1999 and in England and Wales in April 2001. Mr.
Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of Shun Wo
Group Holdings Limited (1591.HK), and Yield Go Holdings Ltd. (1796.
HK), both shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He is a panel member appointed by the Secretary for Transport
and Housing to the Transport Tribunals’ Panel and a member of the
Transportation and Logistics Committee (co-option) of the Law Society of
Hong Kong SAR. He is also a member of Patient Complaint Committee of
The Prince Philip Dental Hospital since 1 October 2021. Mr. Leung was a
member of the Board of Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance) in Hong Kong
from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2020. Mr. Leung was an adjudicator
appointed to the Panel of Adjudicators (Control of Obscene and Indecent
Articles) (established under the Control of Obscene and Indecent Articles
Ordinance (Chapter 390 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) from 18 August 2014
to 17 August 2020. Mr. Leung has over 22 years of law related working
experience. He has been a partner of Howse Williams since May 2015. He
was employed by DLA Piper from February 2001 to April 2009 at which his
last position was partner. He was then employed by Eversheds from May
2009 to April 2015 at which his last position was partner.

Mr. Sun Boquan (“Mr. Sun”), aged 71, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director as well as a member of each of
the audit committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company since 5 June 2019. Mr. Sun has obtained a
master degree in business administration from Nan Kai University (5
K E), the People’s Republic of China in 2005. He was the deputy bureau
head of XM AF B (Tianjin Public Utility Bureau) in September 1997,
and was the chairman of KEM R & BB R A A (Tianjin Gas Group
Company Limited) from 2000 to 2011. During the period from August
2004 to September 2011, Mr. Sun acted as a non-executive director of
Tianjin Tianlian Public Utilities Company Limited (currently known as Tianjin
Jinran Public Utilities Company Limited) (1265.HK), a company now listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Sun was the chairman of
FIEMRRIHE (Tianjin Gas Society) and the vice chairman of B4 5 &2
& (China Gas Society) from 2011 to 2013. Mr. Sun was an independent
non-executive director of Ming Hing Holdings Limited (currently known as
Peace Map Holding Limited) (402.HK), a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, for the period from October
2006 to March 2009.
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Mr. Tong Yun Lung (“Mr. Tong”) aged 60, has been appointed as
independent non-executive Director, member of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee since 18 July 2022.
Mr. Tong has over 10 years of administrative experience in Government of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). From 1983 to 1990, he was
engaged in an administrative role in the General Office of the Yunnan
Provincial Government of the PRC. From 1990 to 1997, he was transferred
to the General Office of the Guangdong Provincial Government of the
PRC. In 1997, he founded B R & % H 4L B % A R 2 7 (Guangdong
Dongfanghong Industrial Co., Ltd.). In 2020, he joined China Far Vision
(HK) Think Tank Limited and is currently the chairman of the company.
Mr. Tong obtained a bachelor’s degree from the Department of Chinese
Language in Nanjing University in the PRC in 1983.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2022

BEEREE([FELE]) 605 B2022F7 A
1ISAREZAEABIIINITES BZRESB
2 FTHEESRREREZEEKE - BEER
FEARLIMBE([FE])BRFHER10FH
TSR - 1983 F £ 1990 F » R BER
BN ABEETETBER - 1990 4F £ 1997
FEACHPEEREBTHRELR - BR
1997 FRIMBERARFAEEBR AR o HR
2020 F AR ERE (BE)BEFRAF -
BAZAREER - BREN1983FEBH
BlFRAZHR X RETEf -



The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and audited financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The Company is an exempted limited liability company, incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 1 February 2010 for the purpose of acting as a closed-
ended investment company.

The Company is principally engaged in investing globally in both private
and publicly listed enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of the mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 6 January 2011 (the “Listing Date”). The
Company had not commenced any operation or business before the
Listing Date.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the business review as required by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, including risks facing by the Company,
important events affecting the Company, that have occurred since the
end of the Year, likely future development in the Company’s business can
be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of this annual report. These discussions form part of this “Report
of the Directors”.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Company for the Year are set out in the financial
statements on pages 74 to 163.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividends for the Year
(31 December 2021: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Company for the
Year is set out on page 164.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves during the Year are set out in the
statement of changes in equity to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital during the Year are set out in
Note 22 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s listed
shares during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Gu Xu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Huang Bin (Co-Chairman)
(Appointed on 10 January 2022)
Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson (Co-Chairman)
(Appointed on 8 February 2022)
Mr. Choi Koon Ming
(Appointed on 8 February 2022)
Mr. Wang Dingben
Ms. Xiao Ruimei
(Appointed on 8 July 2022)
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard
(Resigned on 3 January 2023)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi
Mr. Leung Wai Lim
Mr. Sun Boquan
Mr. Tong Yun Lung
(Appointed on 18 July 2022)
Mr. Lam King
(Appointed on 13 January 2022 and resigned on 18 July 2022)

In order to comply with the requirements of the code provision B.2.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules, Mr. Gu Xu, Mr. Wang Dingben and Mr. Leung Wai
Lim shall retire at the AGM. In addition, according to Article 34.2 of the
Articles, Ms. Xiao Ruimei and Mr. Tong Yun Lung who were appointed by
the Board on 8 July 2022 and 18 July 2022 respectively shall hold office
until the AGM and then shall be subject to re-election at the AGM. Mr. Gu
Xu, Mr. Wang Dingben, Mr. Leung Wai Lim, Ms. Xiao Ruimei and Mr. Tong
Yun Lung, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are set
out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors” on pages 22 to 28 of this
annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Details of the fee or emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 8 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Company’s operations. The Company has not entered
into any equity-linked agreement during the Year or there was not any
subsisting equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company at the
end of the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Company is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental
and social sustainable development. As a responsible enterprise, the
Company is in compliance with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong in terms of the environmentally friendliness,
health as well as safety and adopts effective measures, conserves energy
and reduces waste.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director of the
Company together with every former Director of the Company shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any liability,
action, proceeding, claim, demand, costs, damages or expenses, including
legal expenses, whatsoever which they or any of them may incur in the
execution of their office or otherwise in relation thereto. During the Year,
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance coverage had
been arranged in respect of legal action that might be taken against the
Directors and officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation (if any).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the “Investment Management Agreement” mentioned below,
no contracts of significance, to which the Company was a party and in
which any Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save the respective Investment Management Agreement and Potential
Conflicts of Interest disclosed on pages 29 to 42 of the Report of the
Directors, the Company has not entered into any contract with any
individuals, firms or corporate entities to manage or regulate the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 1 June 2015, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 May 2015.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time.

The Company operates the share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Company’s operations. The eligible participants of
the Share Option Scheme are full time or part time employees of the
Company (including any directors, whether executive or non-executive
and whether independent or not, of the Company); and any business or
joint venture partners, contractors, agents or representatives, consultants,
advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including
any sublicensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any sub-
tenants) of the Company or any person who, in the sole discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
shares in issue on 28 May 2021 as the Company has sought the approval
of the shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the 10% limit under
the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from 28 May 2015.
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As disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 12 May 2015, the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each participant or grantee (including exercised and
outstanding options) in any twelve month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Where it is preposed that any
offer is to be made to a participant (or where approximate, and existing
grantee) which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the twelve month period
up to the including the relevant date of grant to exceed such limit, such
offer and any acceptance thereof must be conditional upon shareholders’
approval in general meeting with such participant (or where appropriate,
and existing grantee) and his, her or its associated abstaining from voting.

The subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the Board, but shall not be lower than the highest
of (i) the closing price of shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date on which the Board approves the making
of the offer for the grant of options (the “Date of Grant”), which must
be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share. The time of acceptance of an offer for the grant of options shall not
be later than 21 days from the Date of Grant. A non-refundable nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an
option.

Particulars to the Company’s Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 21
to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each of the
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EERFTETBRAERKG - HHEH
RoOREEEZEZRAR

MR2022F 12 A31 B  ARBIESENEARE R
HAEMEEEE (TR RESRBAEBKROIEXY
) 2B - ARG REREFREREE
% M EAE G0 ([FFH R EEED]) % 352 &
HATEFEMNELMAZ FRERS AR - 5
BIRE R AIMER 0TS EBEITAESE
EITHRAER HHRESFR ([1BELESFA]) B1TA
SARRA R 2T MRS RAB T

RAEARBEREE.4BTZEEBRRG 247

Company -}
Approximate
Number of % of issued
Capacity in shares held share capital of
Name of Director which shares are held (Direct interests) the Company
R 8 E NG TR £y
Expns A8 RIrERS 2 &5 (E R BRAEZBNE DL
Wang Dingben Beneficial Owner 68,330,000 5.18

FTAR BEnfEAA

Note: As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 1,319,700,274 issued shares.

Ffi5E - 72022412 A31H » RAFHESR 1,319,700,274 1%
BETRG
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'/OTHER PERSON’'S I ERE Hitb A T RKHKLEE
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARESAND RO ZEZR XA
UNDERLYING SHARES

Shareholders’ Interests in Shares BRARG 2 ES

As at 31 December 2022, the following person (other than the Directors 720225128318 A FA T (BEEH AR
or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Al BT A EBRIN) RANRQ 8] Z i 1D sk 18 38
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the M ARIEES NS5 336 156Z 5

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of RARFETEE ZELMAZEFZIOAE

the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each of the RAAGEREE0.04BTZEERKREZ

Company #E
Approximate
Number of Number of % of issued
Capacity in shares held shares held share capital of
Name of shareholder which shares are held (Direct Interests) (Indirect Interests) the Company
FERpEE FERBEE EARRAREET
RESEYEL REERG 2545 (EEER) (BEER) REAZBIEI L
CAS International Investment Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
Management Company Limited (Note 2)
SRR HEE R D)
CAS International Investments Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
Holdings Co., Limited (Note 2)
SZIEHEE S (MF5E2)
China Science International Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
Investment Company Limited (Note 2)
S A E R (FF7E2)
Radiant Goldstone International Beneficial Owner 315,000,000 23.87
Group Limited (Note 2)
EmEE A (FI7E2)
REMERERARDA Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
(Note 2)
G EE S (MF5E2)
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Approximate

Number of Number of % of issued
Capacity in shares held shares held share capital of
Name of shareholder which shares are held (Direct Interests) (Indirect Interests) the Company
FERHEE FERDEE EARRAFEET
RESEYET RITER® 25145 (EEER) (BEER) REAZBHNEI L
HR IR R Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
(Note 2)
SYEHE B (FI5E2)
BRIRHREIFIEEBREE A Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
(Note 2)
SIEHEE S (FI7E2)
W% Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
(Note 2)
TP A E R (FF7E2)
Yang Kun Beneficial Owner 129,640,000 9.82
15 1 EmEEA
Choi Koon Shum Interest in controlled 117,898,595 8.93
corporation (Note 3)
CILVS SRR A B R (Ff7E3)
SU”lelih Kingsway Capital Holdings Interest in controlled 117,898,595 8.93
Limited corporation (Note 3)
MEEESRZERERAA Z R E R % (H3E3)
Festival Developments Limited Interest in controlled 117,898,595 8.93
corporation (Note 3)
TP A E (PfF7E3)
Kingsway Lion Spur Technology Beneficial Owner 117,898,595 8.93
Limited (Note 3)
EmEE A (fI5E3)
Notes: B 5E -

(1) As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 1,319,700,274 issued shares.

(1) 7202212 A31H - AAFER 1,319,700,274 1%
BT ©
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2) To the best information, knowledge and belief of the Directors, Radiant Goldstone
International Group Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of CAS International
Investments Holdings Co., Limited (“CASIIH"). CASIIH is in turn wholly owned by CAS
International Investment Management Company Limited (“CASIIM"). CASIIM is owned
as to 36% by ERIEHZ AR E AR ET QA (" BIRIRHE ") and as to 34% by China
Science International Investment Company Limited (“CSII"). BI%}#H% is wholly owned
by FEI RIS IR AR AT (" P ER SRR ). BRI IER is wholly owned
by F BIRIEER . CSIl is owned as to 85% by Mr. % .

3) To the best information, knowledge and belief of the Directors, Kingsway Lion Spur
Technology Limited (“KLSTL") is a wholly owned subsidiary of Festival Developments
Limited (“FDL"). FDL is wholly owned by Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited
(“Sunwah Kingsway”) (188.HK). As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Choi Koon Shum was
interested and/or deemed to be interested in 56.90% of the issued share capital of
Sunwah Kingsway.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company has
not been notified by any other persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures”) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which are required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company had the following continuing connected
transactions, details of which were disclosed in compliance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Custodian Agreement

The Company had appointed Bank of Communications Trustee Limited
(the “Custodian”) as custodian since 2019. The custodian agreement with
Bank of Communications Trustee Limited (the “Custodian Agreement”)
was effective and will continue to be in force until terminated by either the
Company or the Custodian by giving the other party not less than 30 days
advance notice in writing.

Pursuant to the Custodian Agreement, the Company will pay the
Custodian a monthly fee of the higher of (a) the net asset value of the
portfolio of the Company at each month equal to the rate 0.04% per
annum, or (b) HK$12,500 per month.

During the Year, the total custodian fee of HK$150,139 was paid by the
Company to the Custodian.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTION

Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement dated 30 November
2020 (the “Investment Management Agreement”), the Company
appointed Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Investment
Manager”) as its investment manager to provide the Company with
investment management services for period of three years from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2023. The Investment Manager is entitled to receive
from the Company a management fee accruing monthly at the annual
amount of HK$600,000 and payable monthly in advance from 1 January
2021 onwards.

During the Year, the management fee of HK$600,000 was paid by the
Company.
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The Investment Manager is regarded as a connected person of the
Company under Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
service provided by the Investment Manager to the Company under the
Investment Management Agreement constituted a continuing connected
transaction of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ OPINION ON CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In the opinion of the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company, the terms of and the transactions contemplated
under the Investment Management Agreement and the Custodian
Agreement have been entered into after arm’s length negotiation, on
normal commercial terms, and in the ordinary course of business of the
Company, and are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company
and the shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Company’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of
the non-exempt continuing connected transactions disclosed above by
the Company in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.
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POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Currently the Investment Manager and their directors, officers and
employees provide management and advisory services to a number of
hedge funds, mutual funds and managed discretionary accounts with
similar investment objectives to the Company.

From time to time conflicts of interest may arise between the interest of
the Company and those of other clients. In such situations, the Investment
Manager will have regard to its obligations to the Company to act in the
best interests of the Company, so far as is practicable having regard also to
its obligations to the other clients.

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee is a Director of the Company and the Investment
Manager and is involved in the day-to-day operations of each of these
entities. This may give rise to conflicts of interest.

As the overall interests of the Company and Investment Manager are
aligned, the Directors are of the view that Mr. Chan will be able to act
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. In addition,
all major decisions of each of these companies will be made by their
respective board of directors of these companies as a whole and not at the
sole discretion of Mr. Chan. In the case of the Company, this includes the
independent non-executive Directors, the non-executive Directors and the
executive Director, Mr. Gu Xu.

Mr. Chan will maintain confidentiality in respect of the information of each
of the funds managed by the Investment Manager. They are also aware
of their obligations under the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong’s Internal Control Guidelines that they are required to establish and
ensure the integrity and security of all information relevant to the business
operations of the respective entities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights in respect of the shares of
the Company under the articles of association of the Company although
there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Cayman
Islands.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 54,
the Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Elite Partners CPA Limited will retire at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after 31 December 2022 are set out
in Note 29 to the finance statements.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had six full-time employees on
part-time employee, two executive Directors, six non-executive Directors
and four independent non-executive Directors. Details of the fees or
emoluments of Directors in respect of their services rendered to the
Company and staff cost during the Year are set out in Note 8 and Note 9
respectively to the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the date of
this report.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Bin
=23
Co-Chairman

L
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The Board of the Company has committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the Company to
formulate its business strategies and policies, and manage the associated
risks through effective internal control procedures. It will also enhance the
transparency and accountability of the Company to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and creditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied most of the principles set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31
December 2022, the Company was in compliance with the code provisions
as set out in the CG Code, save and except for the deviation from code
provision C.2.1.

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Prior to 10 January 2022, Mr. Gu Xu was both the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He provided leadership to
the Board and was responsible for the Company’s business development
and daily management generally. To further enhance the corporate
governance of the Company and comply with code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code, with effect from 10 January 2022, Mr. Huang Bin has been
appointed as a non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Company,
while Mr. Gu Xu has ceased to be the Chairman on the same date but
remains as the Chief Executive Officer. With effect from 8 February 2022,
Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company and as Co-Chairman of the Board alongside Mr. Huang
Bin.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all
the Directors of the Company, all the Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eleven members,
two of which are executive Directors, namely Mr. Gu Xu, who is the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Mr. Chan Cheong Yee. The
other nine members comprise five non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Huang Bin, who is the Co-Chairman of the Company, Mr. Choi Chit Sze
Jackson, who is the Co-Chairman of the Company, Mr. Choi Koon Ming,
Mr. Wang Dingben and Ms. Xiao Ruimei and four independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chong Ching Hoi, Mr. Leung Wai Lim, Mr.
Sun Boquan and Mr. Tong Yun Lung. The relationship of Mr. Choi Koon
Ming and Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson is uncle and nephew, there is no
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) among other members of the Board. The biographical details
of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors” on
pages 22 to 28 of this annual report.

The Board held eight meetings during the year ended 31 December
2022. The Board is responsible, inter alia, for establishing the investment
objective and policies of the Company, for complying with the Company’s
investment restrictions, for monitoring the Company’s performance and
for the appointing, supervising, directing and, if necessary, removing any
of the Company’s service providers, including the Investment Manager.

Current composition of the Board, including names of the independent
non-executive Directors, is disclosed in all corporate communications to
shareholders of the Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information and accounts
of the Company. The Directors may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the Company. The
Company will, upon request, provide separate independent professional
advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge their duties to the
Company.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Company’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Company’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place. All Directors, including independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

A summary of training received by the Directors during the year ended 31

December 2022 according to the records provided by the Directors is as
follows:

Name of Directors

EECRHESERE

EXREBEEERNEC  UARETER
B UHEREHEFSNERBRIAEAERH -

BRFZENETONERZEZ IR AR
B RN SEEBERAR R XS N EE
AR Fetn R 2 LR R RBRAERER T
EENRENREE-

EXER2EQENFESEERUEARERN
f)?i—rfﬂ@%ﬂ;%&&ﬁu cARNFHEEEEFTHE
MHERLEAIERTE - BRI B AR RIH&E

o

BIEEEMMEHE oGS B E2022F12 A 31
AILFE SEE0EINEIMS 0T

Seminar and training on
corporate governance,
regulatory development and
other relevant topics
BREXER EEREER

H fth 47 BA 3= 7B A9 78 B I 1% A

EEnE

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Gu Xu JEE B 5 A
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee PREZE LA
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Huang Bin s
Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson EEBEE
Mr. Choi Koon Ming 2550 B O A
Mr. Wang Dingben FTAREAEA
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard BHBEE

(Resigned on 3 January 2023)

Ms. Xiao Ruimei ERE G
Independent Non-executive Directors BAKHTES
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi HESEE
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RHERRSTE
Mr. Sun Boquan RE2EE
Mr. Tong Yun Lung EERLAE
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Prior to 10 January 2022, Mr. Gu Xu was both the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He provided leadership to
the Board and was responsible for the Company’s business development
and daily management generally. To further enhance the corporate
governance of the Company and comply with code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code, with effect from 10 January 2022, Mr. Huang Bin has been
appointed as a non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Company,
while Mr. Gu Xu has ceased to be the Chairman on the same date but
remains as the Chief Executive Officer. With effect from 8 February 2022,
Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company and as Co-Chairman of the Board alongside Mr. Huang
Bin.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Board has at all times complied with the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to having a minimum of four independent non-
executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board) with one
of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, which allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgement to better safeguard
Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement or
further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what actions
of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the Board
performance, for instance, addressing individual training and development
needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the Board
will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board Independence
Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board which will collectively
discuss the results and the action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism and the results were
satisfactory.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are available to the shareholders on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

All members of each Board committee consist of non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors only and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” on pages 2 to 4 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, audit plan and relationship with
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, risk management system, internal control or other matters of
the Company. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
December 2022 to review interim and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on the financial reporting, operational
and compliance controls, the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems, scope of work and appointment of external
auditors, and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties. The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting
principles and policies adopted by the Company and the annual results and
audited financial statement for the Year.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors once without the
presence of the executive Directors during the Year.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation) (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure of all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (ii) determining
the terms of the specific remuneration package of the Directors and
senior management; and (iii) reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Directors from time to time. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out
in the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2022 to consider the relevant matters regarding the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company and the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management and other
related matters.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategies, developing and
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would also discuss and make
recommendations to the Board on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria as
set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to complement
the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate,
before making recommendation to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee held one meetings during the year ended 31
December 2022 to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, to
consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at
the AGM.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted an updated Board Diversity Policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee is committed
to diversity at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and industry
experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered. The Board will consider setting
measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity Policy and review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and
ascertain the progress made towards achieving those objectives.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board

is sufficiently diverse and will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Company and
considers that the current gender diversity is satisfactory. The following
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table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the Company, including HEIAQRR2EET (BREEFEhaHER
the Board and senior management as at the date of this Annual Report. [Z) e RI EL Bl o

Female Male

7 B

Board Exg 9% (1) 91% (10)
Senior Management SRERE 50% (1) 50% (1)
Other employees HiEE 50% (2) 50% (2)
Overall workforce BRLH N 24% (4) 76% (13)
DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY EERABE
The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and EEZEEHETENETTES 2 BE MEHER
appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the Company. AR Tk% CEE o

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of
the Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and
the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

o Character and integrity;

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;
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o Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the Board
and independence of the proposed independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at
general meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RE-ELECTION

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The independent non-executive
Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term of 3 years,
subject to renewal after the expiry of the current term.

The circular to shareholders of the Company with notice of the AGM
contains biographical details of all the Directors proposed to be re-elected
at the meeting to enable shareholders of the Company to make an
informed decision on re-election of Directors.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AT
MEETINGS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board Committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during the year
ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the table below:
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BREEHFEARANEE2022F12A31 81
FERTNESFENESZETEEUMER
AENBRERTE

Meeting attended/held
HE/ BIEENE
Annual/
Extraordinary
Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meetings
RRBF/
Ezg ENZEE FMzEe REZ88 BHXE
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Gu Xu Elibid 88 - - - il
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REZLE 8/8 - - - 11
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Huang Bin BlfE
(Appointed on 10 January 2022) (R2022F1 A10BEZH) 117 - - - 11
Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson BRBAE
(Appointed on 8 February 2022) (R202F2A8HEZ) 465 = = = n
Mr. Choi Koon Ming ERALE
(Appointed on 8 February 2022) (R202F2A8HEZM) 5/5 = = = n
Mr. Wang Dingden FTR%ESE 48 - - - 1/1
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard BHALE
(Resigned on 3 January 2023) (R2023E1 A3AEH) 8/8 - - - il
Ms. Xiao Ruimei (Note) BIRERL ()
(Appointed on 8 July 2022) (R202F7 A8HEZ) 313 = = = 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi [yt bk 8/8 1 6/6 6/6 11
Mr. Leung Wai Lim PEERE 8/8 Wy 6/6 6/6 11
Mr. Sun Boguan Blazks 8/ Wy 6/6 6/6 10
Mr. Lam King HHEE
(Resigned on 18 July 2022) (R2022F7 18 AEHE) 313 i 33 33 11
Mr. Tong Yun Lung (Note) BEREE (M)
(Appointed on 18 July 2022) (K202 7 A 18 HEZM) 22 i 0/0 000 000

Note: Ms. Xiao Ruimei was appointed as non-executive Director on 8 July 2022. Mr. Tong Yun
Lung was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 18 July 2022. The Board
had not held any annual/extraordinary general meeting, Remuneration Committee
meeting and Nomination Committee meeting after their appointment.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
for each financial year and to present the interim results, annual financial
statements, and related announcements to shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent auditors
of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 67 to
73.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are in place both at the
Company and the Investment Manager level. The Investment Manager
has in place a comprehensive risk management and internal control policy
which includes procedures requiring regular performance of various risk
analysis on the Company’s portfolio and close monitoring of the portfolio
against the Company’s investment objective, policies and restrictions.
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At the Company level, a risk committee (the “Risk Committee”) which
consists of Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, an executive Director, Chong Ching Hoi,
an independent non-executive Director, relevant staffs and consultants,
is responsible for monitoring the operational and portfolio risks to the
Company and monitoring the Investment Manager including reviewing
whether the investment objectives, policies and restrictions are being
followed by the Investment Manager. In case of any deviation, the
Risk Committee will discuss deviations with the Investment Manager
immediately and monitor remedial action. For all material deviations, the
Risk Committee will formulate recommendations to the Board on the
appropriate remedial actions to be taken. The Risk Committee meets on
a monthly basis, or more regularly if a meeting is requested by any risk
committee member.

The Board, as supported by the Risk Committee, the Audit Committee
as well as the management, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the Year, and considered that such systems are effective and
adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for the
Year is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in

this annual report.

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s
independent auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited, for audit services is
HK$550,000, and non-audit service is nil respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tai Man Hin Tony, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is the
company secretary of the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Tai has undertaken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convening extraordinary general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2013
Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant to Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company, general meetings shall be
convened on the written requisition of any members of the Company
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s),
provided that such requisitionist(s) hold(s) as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than ten per cent in the Net Asset Value of the shares
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to
be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months after the 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
Director of the Company are laid down in Article 34.3 of the Company’s
Articles of Association. No person other than a Director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing
of the intention to propose such person for election as a Director, signed
by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election as
a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the registered
office of the Company. The minimum length of the period during which
such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and the period for
lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries or request to the Company, for
the attention of Company Secretary, by fax: (852) 2706 9544, or mail to
22/F., CS Tower, 50 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings or other general meetings.

The Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee will make
themselves available at the annual general meeting to meet with the
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.chinaneweconomyfund.com, where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company’s financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the conditions
and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend
for a financial year will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has not made any changes to its
Memorandum and Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report (the "ESG
Report”) has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange. In respect
of the information concerning “corporate governance”, please refer to the
relevant parts of the Company’s annual report.

The ESG Report describes the ESG performance made by the Company
during the Year. The scope of the ESG Report covers the business
operation in the management head office at Hong Kong.

The Board of the Company recognises the importance of ESG in meeting
the changing expectations of stakeholders while enhancing the value and
performance of the Company. Hence, the Board working together with
the management has taken on the overall responsibility of assessing and
identifying risks associated with ESG matters of the Company, and engage
in the mission to promote environmentally and socially sustainable culture
among all its employees to maintain long-term growth of the Company.

This culture enables the Company to formulate appropriate ESG policies
and procedures, to monitor and measure the progress of the ESG
efforts, and also to report on its performances to investors and key
stakeholders. The Company values its stakeholders and their views relating
to its businesses and environmental, social and governance issues. In
order to understand and address stakeholders’ concerns, the Company
communicates with its key stakeholders including but not limited to
investors, customers, government bodies, employees, suppliers and
communities through different channels.

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures, the Company
takes into account the stakeholders’ expectations and strives to improve its
performance through mutual cooperation with the stakeholders, resulting
in creating greater value for the community.

The aspects and key performance indicators as defined in the ESG

Reporting Guide which were considered to be relevant and material to the
Company will be presented below.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL AREA

Aspect A1: Emissions and Waste

During the Year, the Company has complied with relevant
environmental laws and regulations, including Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that has an impact relating to air and
greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste of the Company
during the Year (2021: Nil).

No fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported during the Year
(2021: Nil).

Due to nature of the Company’s business, it produces no direct air
or direct GHG emissions. A small amount of GHG were emitted
indirectly during the Year from the consumption of electricity in
the office, which was supplied by power station where GHG were
directly emitted.

No hazardous waste was produced and there was no discharge
into water and land during the Year (2021: Nil). An insignificant
small amount of non-hazardous wastes were collected at the office,
which were primarily waste paper, office supplies, and domestic
wastes. Despite minimal impact to the environment, the Company
has implemented environmental-friendly measures to manage GHG
emissions and waste production as described in the later section
titled “environmental-friendly measures”.
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Scopes of GHG emissions BERBHHZEE
Scope 1 — Direct emissions from operations that are owned or WIS 1—BARDRIAHE TS 2 %5
controlled by the Company, such as the use of company EEZEEHR  WERAARE
vehicle;  :
Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions resulting from purchased #HE2— BARRRIHBEIINEE NFIEE 2
electricity consumed by the Company; BeIR A EE BERR
Scope 3— Other indirect emissions that occur outside the M 3— A B LASMNE 4 2 H o B BE
Company, including both upstream and downstream W BAE LR TR 2 R
emissions, such as methane gas generation at landfill EHEREREAMEEZH
due to disposal of paper waste, GHG emissions due to Bt BB PRI R K 5 KA
electricity used for processing fresh water and sewage AT M5 R REREEE
by government departments and business air travel by W DA R B R RS IR AT RS AR
employees. e o
The amount of emissions under these different GHG scopes in CO, RAFE  ZETRAEREBHET Z
equivalent ("CO,e") during the Year was as follows: BEmE L Z&aeirg2 (28t s
BIRR)WT
(Units: Tonnes of CO,e 2022 2021
(Bfy M-S REE) 20225 20214
Emission Emission
GHG emissions Major sources volume Intensities volume Intensities
BEREHER TERR e BE 736 mE
(Note) (Note)
(BgaE) (BF3E)
Scope 1
gE1
Direct emissions Nil - - - -
BEHN i
Scope 2
g2
Energy indirect emissions Purchased electricity 7.06 1.18 7.24 1.03
BRI B HEAR BEE
Scope 3
gE3
Other indirect emissions Disposal of paper 0.56 0.09 0.29 0.04
Hfth BB EERER
Total GHG emissions 7.62 1.27 7.53 1.07
BERBHEKRAE
Note: Intensity is measured by dividing the relevant emissions by the number of MisE - BmMERNAFERZ ABEERERUE B
employees as at the end of the Year. BEtE -
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The Company generated no scope 1 emissions and an insignificant
amount of scope 3 emissions during the Year. Approximately 7.06
tonnes of scope 2 emissions was generated during the Year. The
emission has been consistent since there has been no change in the
pattern of the Company’s electricity usage.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

As detailed in the section headed “Emissions and Waste”, electricity
consumption was a major source of indirect GHG emission during
the Year. The consumption of electricity was similar to that in the
same period in previous year. The amount of consumption by types
of energy or resources during the Year was as follows:

RIE - g LEARE

RAFEE - RRBWEELERE 1 2 HR
W RELLVEBBIZHRY - AFE
EER)7.06 MAFHHS 2 2 HERY) - AR AR
BlzBNERAEALEE  PINE—
HERFHRE -

BHEA2: ERER

mIHE R MR Y | —fiprarl - S

RAFEREZEAERBIRZ TEZHRE -
BEEREFRYPHES - RAFE - %

EERKEBRBERIE D 2 HFEEMT ¢

2021
20214

Energy and resources Unites Amount Intensities Amount Intensities
ERRER B HE RE BE BE

(Note) (Note)

(Bt E) i3]
Electricity kWh 9,946 1,421 10,199 2,040
BN FRE
Paper Kilograms 117 19 60 9
MR T

Note: Intensity is measured by dividing the relevant emissions by the number of

employees as at the end of the Year.

The Company consumes water in the office from a centralised water
and sanitation system implemented in the building. The cost of water
consumption of the Company is inclusive in the monthly rent, and
the building management does not individually measure the water
consumption of each tenant and hence no relevant data can be
collected.

Due to the nature of the Company’s business no packaging material
was used.

Paper was primarily used for office printing. During the Year, a total
of approximately 117 kg of paper was consumed, there was no
material change in the usage pattern of paper compared to previous
years.

Despite minimal impact to the environment, energy and resource
conservation are essential parts of the Company’s ESG strategy
which will be detailed in the later section titled “environmental-
friendly measures”.
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Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources

The Company does not use any natural resources in the process of
its business, and hence the impact on the environment or natural
resources was minimal during the Year. Nonetheless the Company is
well aware of the importance in environmental protection, and has
adopted policies and a range of measures to minimise current impact
and manage any potential adverse impact in the future, persisting in
conducting our business in an environmentally responsible manner.
These policies and measures are described below.

Environmental-friendly measures

The Company has always put great emphasis on energy and resource
conservation, which is shown by its engagement in energy savings
and implementation of workplace strategies to reduce energy and
water consumptions. Accordingly, the Company has the following
measures which are regularly carried out to achieve its ESG strategy
in the course of the Company’s operations:

1. Employees are encouraged to use video/telephone
conferencing system to reduce business travel and take public
transportation wherever possible to lower environmental
impact from the burning of fossil fuel.

2. The Company has also implemented energy and water saving
practices, such as maintaining workplace temperature at a
comfortably low level with reference to the relevant standard
recommended by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department of the Hong Kong Government to reduce energy
use.

3. Engaged in environmental-friendly measures in the workplace
in the effort to lower energy consumption, for instance,
employees of the Company are reminded to minimise their
impact on the environment and the use of natural resources
when conducting business.

4. Waste reduction measures include monitoring and recording
paper usage on a monthly basis, and promoting the use of
recycled paper and double-sided printing are actively adopted
wherever possible.

5. The Company’s efficient use of resources and waste reduction
initiatives and guidelines are stipulated in the Staff Handbook
and policies where appropriate to educate and promote ESG to
employees.
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Aspect A4: Climate Change

There is no significant climate-related issues which had impacted,
and which may impact the Company due to nature of the Company’s
business.

SOCIAL SUBJECT AREAS

Aspect B1: Employment

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets
of the Company. Remuneration Committee was set up to providing
a fair and equitable workplace environment for employees, and
ensures that they are reasonably remunerated.

The Company has incorporated guidelines into the Staff Handbook,
covering all aspects of employment, including working hours, rest
periods, salary and welfare, code of conduct, and anti-bribery.
Employment policies in the Staff Handbook have been reviewed and
regularly updated.

The Company has fully complied with the Employment Ordinance,
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487), the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527) and the Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602). The Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that has
an impact relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare during the Year
(2021: Nil).

As at the end of the Year, there were six (included three males and
three females) full-time employees and two (included two males)
part-time employees employed by the Company (2021: seven). There
were five employees for the age range 30-50 years old and three
over 50 years old. The Company is based in Hong Kong and all of
its employees work at the Hong Kong office. During the Year, the
turnover rate is 40%.
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Company is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment for all of its employees, protecting them from any
potential occupational hazards. The tasks of the employees are
mainly office-based, and thus safety issues are not as pertinent
to the job nature. The Company also offers coverage on medical
insurance (including in-patient and out-patient) and compensation
to employees in the event of sickness and work-related injury.
During the Year, the Company complied with all relevant laws and
regulations including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) in Hong Kong and did not record
any work-related fatality, injury or lost day in the past three years.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Company attaches great importance to the staff development
and quality of employee. The Company has offered training
opportunities from external organisations, and offers flexible training
time to facilitate all employees to reinforce skill sets and to keep up-
to-date with the latest knowledge in their profession.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Company is committed to preventing child and forced labour
in the workplace and complying with all applicable labour laws and
regulations on employment in Hong Kong.

The Company respects human rights and treats this as an important
factor when making investment in human capital in comprehensive
screening process in order to recruit employees with good quality.
The Company requires all job applicants to provide valid identity
documents and personal data and background information will
be collected and verified in details to ensure that they are lawfully
employable prior to confirmation of any employment and preventing
illegal workers, child labour and forced labor.

Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep within standard
work hours and the employees are entitled to annual leave,
sick leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and
compassionate leave.
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. Unlike
those companies which manufacture, trade or provide services, the
Company has relatively few suppliers and a very simplistic supply
chain. The environmental and social impacts with regards to supplier
chain is relatively low.

The Company’s suppliers are mainly those third-party suppliers
providing services such as information technology, property
management, advertising, legal and consulting, and third-party
suppliers of goods such as office equipment, and printing and
stationery. All of the suppliers were based in Hong Kong.

The Company maintains practices that build up positive relationships
with its suppliers as well as focusing on service quality when selecting
suppliers. The Company purchases from a list of approved suppliers
that have been awarded for their quality of goods and services
through the selection process.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Due to the Company’s business nature, it does not deliver a product
or service and hence product responsibility is not applicable to the
Company.

The Company has complied with relevant law and regulations
with regards to data protection and privacy when transacting with
third-party and dealing with member share registration matters.
Unauthorised copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential
information, including identities and records of transactions of
registered members, are strictly prohibited. During the Year, the
Company has not received any significant complaint from any
stakeholders (2021: Nil).
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Company has strict policies that ensures adherence to the
highest ethical standards and maintains a corporate culture
of integrity and justice to prevent, detect and report all types
of corruption, including bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. In complying with provisions included in the Staff
Handbook, employees at all levels are expected to conduct in an
appropriate manner, with integrity, impartiality and honesty.

The Company has complied with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions)
Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant laws in regions in which the Company invests. The Company
was not aware of any significant matter related to corruption during
the Year (2021: Nil).

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Company focuses on the surrounding communities and
encourages employees to participate in various local community
activities and events on a voluntary basis on the focus areas. The
Company will make the best use of its influence to address the
community needs and will continue to act socially responsible in the
future.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
RV A R

To the shareholders of China New Economy Fund Limited
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of China New Economy Fund
Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 74 to 163, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2022, and of
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (”IFRSs")
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs") issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (“IAASB”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

HEEREE

Carrying amounts of unlisted investments

FLmEE

As disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements, the
investment portfolio includes investments in direct private
equity investments.

WM EHRRMT 16 MEE  REEASBEREELE
PRAEIRE -

We identified the carrying amounts of unlisted investments
as a key audit matter due to the significance of these
investments in the financial statements, and because
determining the valuation methodology and the inputs
involved estimation uncertainty and required significant
judgement to be applied by the investment manager and the
board of directors.

EEWMTIH I TRENEEAEA —HEREREE R
ARZRBINZERECVBHRRPEZN  UARETEM
BERERBAESNSENGEATHELERTEREE
BANESSEREEHE -
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HEITRIE  MESTEHHERTREHERE
H o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

M ERERERSEE

Our procedures in relation to the carrying amounts of
unlisted investments included:

BEERFLTREREENEFEHE

o Obtaining understanding the design and operating
effectiveness of the financial reporting controls we
considered significant in the valuations and model
approval process;

s EERREMENMREBERETBEENMBR
TEENRTREBRRR

o Assessing the valuation methodologies applied for
appropriateness against accepted market practice;

o FHMAEFMERMMBETERENAARNTHEN

o Considering whether the application of
methodologies is consistent with generally accepted
valuation methodologies and prior periods;

s ZREERNERGEETEARNMEEENER—
Eg
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEEXER M ELERERER

o Comparing the assumptions used in the Company’s
models and methodologies to independent external
sources where possible;

o IR ERAARERFIFTAMARREE T HINBK
TR (InE AT

o Assessing the valuation techniques and inputs
used, particularly where valuation inputs were
unobservable;

o FHMEPTAMERMLEAE  FRIREHERAER
A MRS

o Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, such
as latest financial information/statements approved by
independent auditors;

o HHBWABBEXFER (I ZBENIE
BRI B E R WK

o Comparing the recent transaction price with the
valuation basis provided by management; and

o UBUIHNRZEREAEEERHOMGEREM &

o Evaluating the adequacy of financial statement
disclosures.

o FHEMBBRIBBERLRED -
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OTHER MATTER

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2021 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified
opinion on those statements on 29 March 2022.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Company’s financial reporting process.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2022
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

RBMREXMBRERAENRE
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Wai Nam, William with practising certificate
number: P05957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

10th Floor

8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

B M EMEE WG R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2022F 12 A31HILFE

74

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Notes HK$ HK$
B 7 BT BT

REVENUE WA 5 3,116,109 2,547,989
Net change in fair value of financial ZAFEFBEZYIR 2 &8

assets at fair value through profit BEAFEEZEFE

or loss 6 (39,041,595) 7,181,427
Other operating expenses EmEERY (16,725,072) (14,592,920)
OPERATING LOSS EEEIE (52,650,558) (4,863,504)
Finance costs B 7% A AN 7a (94,517) (116,735)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BR i A5 18 7b (52,745,075) (4,980,239)
Income tax expense I8 12 = -
LOSS AND TOTAL AR BEREEEEAEN

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FRAEFEREZHEEHAE

THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS

OF THE COMPANY (52,745,075) (4,980,239)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AR FEEREZFIEE AEW

TO ORDINARY EQUITY BRER

HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13

— Basic — =K (0.042) (0.007)

- Diluted — #E (0.042) (0.007)
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Statement of Financial Position

BIFSIRER

At 31 December 2022 7202212 H31H

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Notes HK$ HK$
B 7 BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Right-of-use asset EREEE 14(a) 518,327 890,036
Deposits g 15 126,740 126,740
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 645,067 1,016,776
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables T8/ FUIE K H 4th f& U 3 0E 15 4,483,150 2,939,686
Amount due from brokers WA 42 AFRIE 15 10,003 240,723
Financial assets at fair value through &R FEFBIERTIRZ
profit or loss EEREE 16 116,438,778 109,354,628
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEE 18 27,830,332 2,277,187
Total current assets MEEELE 148,762,263 114,812,224
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables and accruals B e B R ERTE A 19 6,595,551 1,168,447
Lease liability HEAE 14(b) 406,525 387,578
Total current liabilities mEBEEE 7,002,076 1,556,025
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 141,760,187 113,256,199
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHBERABES
LIABILITIES 142,405,254 114,272,975
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Lease liability HEAE 130,458 536,982
Total non-current liabilities ERBBaERE 130,458 536,982
NET ASSETS BEEFRE 142,274,796 113,735,993
EQUITY =
Issued capital BT 22 52,788,011 34,568,595
Reserves 1 89,486,785 79,167,398
Total equity HmiaE 142,274,796 113,735,993
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE BREEFE 23 0.1 0.13
Gu Xu Chan Cheong Yee
B2 BREZ
Director Director
EZE EE
FRELFTAEERABRAR / EIR 2022 75



Statement of Changes in Equity
WS EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2022F 12 A31HILFE

Share
Issued Share  Distributable options  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
REE RVEE THIKEE  BRERE 2 BB @t
HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HKS
BT B BT BT BT BT
(Note 22) (Note 22) (Note) (Note 21)
(MzE22) (FtiE22) (Fir3E) (FrsE21)
At1 January 2021 2202151818 2400599 157910938 15427143 1401000  (127632337) 71,112,713
Shares issued during the year REFEBIRG 10,562,626 34,376,548 - - - 44939174
Share issued expenses Ry &TRX - (228,655) - - - (228,655)
Lapsed of equity-settled share-based ~ IAEZmEE R KD A
payment ARMATER - - - (284,000) 284,000 -
Equity-settled share-based payment ~ bAiEm & ERRHHH - - - 2,893,000 - 2,893,000
Loss and total comprehensive loss FNBERZERR
for the Year k] - - - - (4,980,239) (4,980,239)
At 31 December 2021 and R0211E12A318R
1 January 2022 02%1A18 34568595 192,058,831  15427,143 4010000  (132328576) 113735993
Shares issued during the year TEERETRG 17,284,298 60,495,042 - - - 77,779,340
Share issued expenses R BIRY - (514,131) = = = (514,131)
Share options exercise BT RERE 935,118 4,758,301 - (1,674,750) = 4,018,669
Lapsed of equity-settled share-based MR EER KA H
payment E - - - (558,250) 558,250 -
Loss and total comprehensive loss TEEBRRZABE
for the Year ke = = = = (52,745,075)  (52,745,075)
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 52,788,011 256,798,043* 15,427,143* 1,777,000%  (184,515,401)* 142,274,796

* These reserve accounts comprise the reserve of HK$89,486,785 (2021: HK$79,167,398) *
in the statement of financial position.

IR ER B BBV BMR R AN 89,486,785
7T (20214 179,167,398 B L) ©

Note: Distributable reserve is a balance of credit derived from capital reduction which may be BEE - RIS

K 6 5 A3 AN R B 56 R B0 D R AR O i 2

utilised by the directors of the Company. It gives greater flexibility to the Company to EZHERBEE - AR RRRARERBRER
declare dividends and/or to undertake any corporate exercise which requires the use of ETEMAEDRARS REFHEZCEEBRERE

REEE e

distributable reserves in the future.
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Statement of Cash Flows
WEMER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2022F 12318 ILFE

2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes HK$ HK$
liks3 BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING & ETEEBZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax PR AT ET 1B (52,745,075) (4,980,239)
Adjustment for: BATIEE #E -
Finance cost B GIDTN 94,517 116,735
Dividend income from listed equity _b F1 48 25 25 5 A% B A
securities 5 - (26,400)
Dividend income from unlisted JE LR FEAFRERA
equity securities 5 (471,680) -
Interest income from bonds BEHHBUWA (528,110) (908,219)
Interest income from promissory 7 ¥, Z 4% F B Uk A
notes (1,657,808) (1,112,521)
Bank interest income RITHFI B YA (2,511) (849)
Depreciation of right-of-use asset (£ HEEERTE 371,709 296,501
Net realised gain on financial assets & AV EZEBE=IE 2 @M
at fair value through profit or BEDERNEFE
loss 6 11,246,814 38,421,137
Net unrealised loss on financial BATEEBERYE D6
assets at fair value through profit B EREIH E18F 5
or loss 6 27,794,781 (45,602,564)
Share option expense B AR i 2 = 2,893,000
Withholding taxes paid EERH - 2,640
(15,897,363) (10,900,779)
Payment for purchase of financial asset BB Z AT EBBEZIIER Y
at fair value through profit or loss SREE MK (83,125,686) (116,428,879)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets &L A FEFEBIERYIERZ
at fair value through profit or loss & @& = FT{S 5B 36,999,941 85,581,407
Change in prepaid expenses and TEAT B 57 B EL i JE Ui SR IR B &)
other receivable 1,022,564 1,768,293
Change in amount due from brokers & U 48 42 A 7018 & &) 230,720 259,503
Change in amount due to brokers — JE{S4E 42 A FRTE & - (4,659,540)
Change in accruals and FEET B PR B B At FE - FRIE
other payable 5,427,105 (592,859)
Cash used in operations EBEFARE (55,342,719) (44,972,854)
Dividend income received from listed & Y _E T 25 25 5 A% B U A
equity securities - 23,760
Dividend income received from EUEE ETEREESHRBBA
unlisted equity securities 471,680 -
Interest received B R B A (377,598) 899,698
Net cash flows used in operating LEEFMAREREFE
activities (55,248,637) (44,049,396)
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Statement of Cash Flows
REMRER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2022F 12 A31HILFE

78

2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5E BT BT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BETBHFB2REERE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS A 81,798,009 44,939,174
Share issue expense R EBEITHX (514,131) (228,655)
Interest paid B FLE (94,517) (116,735)
Repayment of principal portion of ~ EEMEGENAEID

lease liability 14(b) (387,577) (267,673)
Net cash flows from financing RETEMEBHREREFE

activities 80,801,784 44,326,111
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH BHE&RRE&SEENFE

EQUIVALENTS 25,553,146 276,715
Cash and cash equivalents at REEYHRS MRS EE

beginning of year 2,277,186 2,000,472
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT XEEARRERREEE

END OF YEAR 27,830,332 2,277,187
ANALYSIS OF BALANCESOFCASH HRERHESESEEBRDM

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

— Cash at banks —iRITIRE 18 27,830,332 2,277,187
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Notes to Financial Statements

P

31 December 2022 2022 12A31H

2.1

CORPORATION INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 1 February
2010 under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company was
established for the purpose of acting as a closed-ended investment
company.

The Company’s registered office is at P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is at
22/F., CS Tower, 50 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The principal investment objective of the Company is to achieve
long-term capital appreciation through investing globally in both
private and public enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”), the
Company’s investment activities are managed by Evergrande
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Investment Manager”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of Appendix 16 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair values. The financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") except
when otherwise indicated.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Company has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Company’s annual period beginning on
1 January 2022 for the preparation of the financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018-2020

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Company’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these financial statements.
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2.3 NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO IFRSS IN ISSUE 23 CHEMAEMKRERNNHTTRE

BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE PR B 5 R 5 2 Bl 2 8 5T A
The Company has not early applied the following new and ARAWRIREFEAATEEMERR
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: ER A R BIBR B R s R 2 55T
N
IFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts' RHBmEE REEL
the June 2020 and AIZE175% (B
December 2021 20206 A K
Amendments to 2021412 A BIR
IFRS 17) IS E RS
1758 2 ERTA)
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between RIS MEER RIREEEAERE
and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint FI0OREBEEE ArkaghsE
Venture? FFEAIE 285 HHEEIEA
1BET AR BE?
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback? B HRE LR BEATINESE
F16mBEIAR &?
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or B 2 5T 2R HEEIERARE
Non-current? F1IRZBETR DEEIE
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants? Sl Bt 45 22 55 B FE T B
ERE vl 1N BE3
Amendments to IAS Disclosure of Accounting Policies' RErtERIE 1 SRR
1 and IFRS Practice K B R B 75 i
Statement 2 A RIVEZE AR
F 2 2B AR
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates' B ERERIE 85 St fartER"
ZABEIAR
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and el B-RHEECZE
Liabilities arising from a Single 12285 ERBEHEER
Transaction’ FERIE
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. ! #2023F 1 A1 Rk 2 &MmZ FEHRLE
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. ? RAFE A Bk E 8 M mF EER -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 3 202451 A1 Bz &R 2 FEBE4E
e
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all NARIESTEAEAMB T RERG
new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the B EER 2B ARABRERETE
financial statements in the foreseeable future. HUBHmKRENEAZLE -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHERUE
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POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Company measures its equity instruments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Company. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which
it arises, (only if there are revalued assets in the financial statements)
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with
the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,

or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration.

Company as a lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of

low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make

lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use

the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Company as a lessee (Continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Company exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Company as a lessee (Continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (i.e.,
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to
be low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Company has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Company has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset that is a debt instrument to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost
are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
and financials assets which are equity instruments are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Company commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Company had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as revenue in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Company and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a passthrough arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and
rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred
control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In
that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Company could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Company compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Company
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs.

Stage 1 —Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include other payables and
accruals, amounts due to brokers and lease liability.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)

94

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Revenue recognition

Dividend income is recognised on the date on which the investments
are quoted ex-dividend or, where no ex-dividend rate is quoted,
when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established and it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend can be measured reliably. Dividend income is
presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which
are disclosed separately in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Revenue from sources other than dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
described below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources

Income from profit guarantee is recognised when the amount is
received or receivable.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Company’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Company receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer at the date when the grant is made using a
binomial model.

R0 R ER MR (&)

2002 11 A7 B L EEBETT
CUNEREER G KA TISER T E
B2 AFENE - AFETRINBHE
B BB A — AR A EE -

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee R GEER S 2 AERER 2 B EFA
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, BERERRE R SR EEZ B
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions NEBEBMEAZANER - REE B 8aT

are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Company or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

Related parties

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Company if that person:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of Company’s parent;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTBERBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BES (&)
(b)  the entity is related to the Company if any of the following (b) A TNEMIERER B EEE
conditions applies: ZAN/NS PSR LE
(i)  the entity and the Company are members of the same () ZEBEAAFBER—SE
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and KB AR (EERZFZMK
fellow subsidiary is related to the others; EEHY NG B ARMA
RIWERARIEEEME)
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy —RHEERS —EME=
entity (or of an associate or joint venture of a member of NAlHEERE (HAS—E
a group of which the other entity is a member); BFEEE®KE QR
EhENEEDREHE)
(i) the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the (iy ZEERAQNAHRRE—ZF
same third party; =AM EEhE:
(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other vy —EEBRAE=-FEENE
entity is an associate of the third entity; Eh¥E MR —EBAZS

==

p=113

RARTA K —REXR

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v) ZERE
benefit of employees of either the Company or an entity NEEHENEENREESN
related to the Company; BH MR BB R ETE

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) ZEBX(FPTHEAA LTS
identified in (a); XA LFES
(viiy a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (i) R@OFTHENATHZER
over the entity or is a member of the key management EEATENBZER (%
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and SN EK% BABH
Hf—%KE
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) ZERBIEMBEENIENM
part, provides key management personnel services to the BB ARIMARRHAR A
Company or to the Company’s parent. NARRBREIEZEEEAER
& o
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Share capital

The Company’s ordinary shares are classified as equity as the
Company has full discretion on repurchasing the shares and on
dividend distributions.

Issuance and acquisition of ordinary shares are accounted for as
equity transactions.

Upon issuance of shares, the consideration received is included in
equity.

Transaction costs incurred by the Company in issuing or acquiring
its own equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction
from equity to the extent that they are incremental costs directly
attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise would have
been avoided.

Own equity instruments which are acquired are deducted from
equity and accounted for at amounts equal to the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs.

No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income on the purchase, sale, issuance or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions are at the discretion of the Company. A
dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is accounted
for as a deduction from retained earnings. An interim dividend is
recognised directly as a liability in the period in which it is irrevocably
declared by the Board of Directors. A final dividend is recognised as
a liability in the period in which it is approved by the annual general
meeting of shareholders.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash at banks, including term deposits, and
assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Company operates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

The Company is exempted from all forms of taxation in Cayman
Islands, including income, capital gains and withholding taxes.
However, in some jurisdictions, investment income and capital
gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the
income. Withholding tax is a generic term used for the amount of
withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Company
presents the withholding tax separately from the gross investment
income in profit or loss.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2022

Fr&®i (&)

EERERREBXZELERAEENK
EE - WA AT RS B 50 FE AR T i A
NEREZARBNELEHAEE  AlE
TEL AT - REERREERIREE
AlgEBRRERREHTG  XRAA
BEBNIS 2 59 FE SR Bt A A Mk (3 22 R =X &
IIEETR TR B E R MR

EXERBREENBBERREBEHNEZE
BENFEREHRMERNREGFE
MZREDERHERREAEEHE
HEBOBRE (RBOR)EE -

B REEARRRHEA A RORE B 3IT R
BAKAANEEERNATAEAGEER
e OMERERBEENMEEHREBERARTS
HR-HREHEHR - EREEEIN
BERKXHHEBRBERBEREENHEAGL
BEFTEBERREER  BiFHREE
FREANRRARBEREELRBEIRE
ENBEABZ TRERRNEREBW 2
FrEmiAr - AEEN AR E KRR
HEER THEE-

ARBRHAEHESERLHRSZANIEA
BREMAEH EAREHEIENHR - A
M -RETAZEER REKARE
AU &5 7R AR FE A SRR M 0 B B0 TR
B o FEHIB BWA SR IR IR &
RAPTAEVARTE - N R REE SR K IR
MEREWARBEFZI BN -



Notes to Financial Statements

P

31 December 2022 2022 12A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Functional and presentation currency

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Hong
Kong dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates. The Company’s performance
is evaluated and its liquidity is managed in Hong Kong dollars.
Therefore, the Hong Kong dollar is considered as the currency that
most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying
transactions, events and conditions.

Foreign currencies translations

Foreign currency transactions during the Year are translated at
the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising from translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

Foreign currency transactions gains and losses on financial
instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are
included in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as part of the “Net change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”. Foreign exchange
differences on other financial instruments are included in profit
or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as “Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net”.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)

104

POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Company operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Company in an independently administered fund. The
Company’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Going concern

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the Company has the resources to continue in business for
the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of
any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern
basis.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the financial statements were prepared.
However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising beyond the control of the Company. These changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimates and assumptions (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair value of financial assets recorded in the statement
of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, their
fair value is determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this
is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. The
estimates include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such
as the share price of the underlying investment, correlation, volatility
and transactions of shares. Changes in assumptions about these
factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments
in the statement of financial position and the level where the
instruments are disclosed in the fair value hierarchy.

The suspended equity investments, unlisted equity investments,
promissory notes and unlisted bond have been valued based on
a market-based valuation technique as detailed in Note 26 to
the financial statements. The valuation requires the Company to
determine the comparable public companies (peers) and select the
price multiple. In addition, the Company makes estimates about the
discount for illiquidity and size differences. The Company classifies
the fair value of these investments as Level 3.

IFRS 13 requires disclosures relating to fair value measurements
using a three-tier fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of
the inputs used in measuring fair values. The level in the fair value
hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised
in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For
this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the
fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement
uses observable inputs that require significant adjustments based
on unobservable inputs, then that measurement is a Level 3
measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to
the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement,
considering factors specific to the asset or liability. To assess the
significance of a particular input to the entire measurement, the
Company performs a sensitivity analysis.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Company is organised into business
units based on the categories of investments. During the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company has two reportable and
operating segments as follows:

Listed securities — Investments in equity securities listed on relevant
stock exchange

Unlisted securities — Investments in open-ended fund, limited
partnership fund, private equity securities, unlisted bond and
promissory notes.

The geographical analysis of Company’s turnover and segment
results by geographical areas for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 is not presented as significant transactions of the
Company are mainly based in Hong Kong.

Further details of the Company’s investments are included in Note 6
and Note 16.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4., REFHER (B)
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Company’s results by operating T RIZREEDHE DB AR R T EEF
segments: EZ 9
Listed Unlisted
securities securities  Unallocated Total
tHEH FLmEH AAE @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZ2022F 12 A31 ALt FE
Segment revenue AEHA - 3,113,598 2,511 3,116,109
Segment results NEEE (19,673,013)  (17,912,793) - (37,585,806)
Bank interest income BITFIEHA 2,511
Government grants I8 156,000
Unallocated expenses AAEFEY (15,317,780)
Loss before tax B RIEE (52,745,075)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Unallocated Total
FmES FEmES Al @it
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE2021F 12 A31 ALLFE
Segment revenue AEHEA 26,400 2,520,740 849 2,547,989
Segment results DEEE 11,551,998 (1,823,431) - 9,728,567
Bank interest income BITFBHA 849
Unallocated expenses RAEHAE (14,709,655)
Loss before tax BRERIEE (4,980,239)
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the operating
segments derived revenue from dividend income, interest income
and income from profit guarantee earned from the investments held
by the segments. Segment results represented the net gains or losses
on changes in fair values of listed equity securities, private equity
securities, unlisted bond, open-ended fund, limited partnership
fund and promissory notes classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and the corresponding interest income,
dividend income as well as income from profit guarantee earned
by each segment without the allocation of administrative expenses,
finance costs, interest income from bank deposits, government
grants and the Investment Manager’s fees.

As management considers the Company’s nature of business to be
investment trading and there are no major customers, accordingly
no information regarding revenue derived from major customers is
presented.

IR

KEDHER (&)

HE20229F K2021F 12 A31HIEF
B e HMRARE D HIFIRE
BREUEI AR BUA ~ BB K s FIR &
WA e DEEBEEDERIZATEES
BRIEreMEEZ LTERES
FETES FARAES BRARE
& RAHBRAFEYBRENEERF
BERAEERSWA - IRBWARE DI
BEUZ m MRBUWA - M RITE A
XM - RITERFEMWA -
HRHBARIREEEABRDE °

A ERERALATNERME AR
AESEYEEIEES  HHE25AE
MR EERSQRANER -

FETEEREBR AR / FIR 2022

109



Notes to Financial Statements

BTSRRI o

31 December 2022 2022 12A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFHEFR (E)
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Company’s assets and liabilities by T AREEDIEDHARTEER
operating segments: BEMEZDT:
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EmEE FEmES st
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
BT BT BT
As at 31 December 2022 2022912 A31H
Segment assets: DEBEE
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEEBERIEZ
through profit or loss TREE 12,261,190 104,177,588 116,438,778
Unallocated assets A EE 32,968,552
Total assets BEMAE 149,407,330
Liabilities: BfE:
Unallocated liabilities KoBLBE 7,132,534
Total liabilities BERE 7,132,534
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EWES FELETES HBET
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 31 December 2021 R20219 12 A31H
Segment assets: DEEE -
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEBEBEBERIEZ
through profit or loss TREE 31,872,545 77,482,083 109,354,628
Unallocated assets AP EE 6,474,372
Total assets BERE 115,829,000
Liabilities: =0
Unallocated liabilities ROBAEE 2,093,007
Total liabilities BEBE
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4., REFHER (B)
(Continued)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating MEESHERB RN D EEEEERM
resources between segments, all financial assets at fair value through AR ATEERERINEZ SR
profit or loss are allocated to reportable segments. All other assets BEADEZZEWmDE - NARIHA
of the Company, including right-of-use asset, deposits, prepayments FHEMEE (RRETAREE Ze 78
and other receivables, amounts due from brokers and cash and RIFE & H Ath U GRTE - EURAS 42 AT
cash equivalents, and all liabilities are not allocated to the operating BEUARBeRREEHE) RAAEARELE
segments. DEELE DL -
5. REVENUE 5 WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADTIAT -
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Dividend income from listed equity ITHEEFEFREKA
securities - 26,400
Dividend income from unlisted equity JE RS FE AR EMRA
securities 471,680 -
Interest income from promissory notes EHBE 2T EWA 528,110 1,112,521
Interest earned — bonds ERRE—ESH 1,657,808 908,219
Bank interest income RITA B A 2,511 849
Income from profit guarantee i AR 78 WA 300,000 500,000
Government grants T 4 B 156,000 -
3,116,109 2,547,989
Notes: BEE -
(i) Income from profit guarantee relates to amounts received and receivable in (i) s TR B WA R AR 15 HE B 165 5k P 8 A9 5
respect of a private equity investment in Hong Kong under the profit guarantee IRFBIRR BB BT BRI E W & FE I
terms set out in the relevant agreement. FRIE o
(ii) Government grants from Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") (ii) BB BFITRERS B FERMF])
Government Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) have been received for IR BLZE T 21 & BUR #0 Bh A DAIR B BR AN AT BB 4
retaining employees who may otherwise be made redundant. The related salary fREMREES - BN ERARHEENEEE
expenditure for which government grant intended to compensate has been fully CHZBEREAE BEAZSHYERBRY
undertaken. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these REK G HHAEE -
grants.
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6. NET CHANGE ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The listed shares and unlisted investments are all classified as

BAFEEBRRSIR 2 S

EmBEO R ETREADBR/IE DT

EEBBERIIRZEREE -

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
FH#ES FEmES et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
For the year ended HZE2022912A31H
31 December 2022 EE
Net realised loss on financial assets 1% /A F{&:& @B E 2
at fair value through profit or SRHEAEDEBEE
loss FRE (10,983,513) (263,301)  (11,246,814)
Net unrealised loss on financial AT EFGBEDSYNEYZ
assets at fair value through profit ¢ B & E X &I 8 F
or loss ) (8,830,035) (18,964,746) (27,794,781)
Total of net realised and unrealised £+ A8z5 2 B &35 |
loss included in profit or loss REEBIBRFE (19,813,548)  (19,228,047)  (39,041,595)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EWESE ELMES st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT

For the year ended HZE=2021F12H31H
31 December 2021 \FEE

Net realised loss on financial assets %/ F{E & BB 5 EE 2
at fair value through profit or SRMEECEIREE
loss SEEE

BRATEFEBEREIIERZ
SREERERIE

(38,421,137) - (38,421,137)
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on

financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (B 18) F+8 49,946,735 (4,344,171) 45,602,564
Total of net realised and unrealised 5+ A%~ 2 & 3H K&

(loss)/gain included in profit or I8 (F18E)/ Ws

loss DR 11,525,598 (4,344,171) 7,181,427
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NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The listed shares and unlisted investments are all classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Realised loss on disposals of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss amounted to HK$11,246,814 (2021: realised loss of
HK$38,421,137), representing the difference between the financial
assets’ initial carrying amount upon initial recognition (usually their
costs) and disposal consideration amount. Unrealised loss amounted
to HK$27,794,781 (2021: unrealised gain of HK$45,602,564)
comprises change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for the Year and from reversal of the prior years’
unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments which were
realised in the reporting period.

6.

BAFEEBRERSIR S8
EESHFHE A

EmEO R EMREADBR/ERF
EEEBRRIIRCEREE -

PERANTFEHEABRIEZeMEE
E@E“‘iﬁﬁéﬂaz%1,246,814,%75(2021
F DRI EE38,421,1378T)

ZEREERVIBER MWMABE@{E
(BEANTN) BEHERESBECANE
B o REIREIE 527,794,781 77T (2021
& REIRUWEE 45,602,564 7T) B
RNEERATFEEABRIEZS/ME
Fsﬁ Ifﬁ“%ﬁu&%ﬁf@ﬁi&iﬁﬂﬁﬂa

?‘Eo

LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BREAEE
The Company’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging: PN/ BRELATEBEHBRIATEIER
Lﬁl :
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(@)  Finance costs (a) BAFERCAS
Interest on other borrowings HMmEERE 58,735 85,883
Interest on lease liability HEBENE 35,782 30,852
94,517 116,735
(b)  Other operating expenses (b) HMEEMET
Staff cost (excluding directors’ BT A
remuneration) (TBEEEFH2) 3,885,403 3,232,366
Investment management fee "EEEE 600,000 600,000
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net HNE 518, (U as
pEi=C 527,028 (3,346)
Auditors’ remuneration =AD& 550,000 550,000
Short-term lease expense in respect of FRAMENEHEE
properties FZ 75,600 53,704
Consultancy fees SR 1,200,000 700,000
Legal and professional fees FEERBEEATER 3,350,212 1,312,750
Commission and other charges e kEMWER 260,425 405,069
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FREEETE 371,709 296,501
Equity-settled share-based payment Atz S E R IR 15 - 2,893,000
BT B SR AR / 9 2022
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8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the Year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

EENE

Rz EmARA - BB R BERDISE 383(1)
@b QEOELRRF (KREESH
BEMROIE 2T UARBEZAFEE

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: =MemT -
2022 2021
2022 & 20214
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Fees ke 1,849,319 1,356,000
Bonus AT A - _
Contributions to pension schemes MR R 5T EIH - -
1,849,319 1,356,000

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December

2022 as follows:

HE2022F12 A3 HIEFEREEN

MamT

Contributions

to pension
Name of Directors Fees schemes Total
Bie
EEpE ok &R #st
HK$ HK$ HKS
BT B BT
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Gu Xu BBLE 360,000 - 360,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REELAE 528,000 - 528,000
888,000 - 888,000
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Huang Bin BT AE
(Appointed on 10 January 2022) (20221 A10HEZRT) 114,169 - 114,169
Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson BERLE
(Appointed on 8 February 2022) (FR2022F2 A8 HEZT) 104,813 - 104,813
Mr. Choi Koon Ming BEHALE
(Appointed on 8 February 2022) (202262 A8 HEZT) 104,813 - 104,813
Mr. Wang Dingben FTREE = = =
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard I EIG e
(Resigned on 3 January 2023) (A 2023F 1 A3BEIT) 117,000 = 117,000
Ms. Xiao Ruimei BIREL L
(Appointed on 8 July 2022) (R202257H8H) 56,298 - 56,298
497,093 = 497,093
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEM< (&)
Contributions
to pension
Name of Directors Fees schemes Total
BiRe
EEnE e HELER st
HKS$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Independent non-executive directors B FEHTES
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi HES & 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Leung Wai Lim REREAE 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Sun Boquan Blezikt 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Lam King (Appointed on 13 January #&)5t 4 (A 202261 513 8%
2022 and resigned on 18 July 2022) ZEWR2022F7F 188
BHE) 60,073 - 60,073
Mr. Tong Yun Lung EHEERRAE
(Appointed on 18 July 2022) (20227 A 18 HEZRMT) 53,153 - 53,153
464,226 - 464,226
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8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (Continued) 8.

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December
2021 as follows:

EEME (&)

HE221FNANHLEFEZEEN
&

Contributions

to pension
Name of Directors Fees schemes Total
BARE
BE=ps ik BEl et
HKS HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Gu Xu BEB A 360,000 - 360,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REFEELE 528,000 - 528,000
888,000 - 888,000
Non-executive director kHTES
Mr. Wang Dingben EFTARESE - - -
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard BRIs S 4 & 117,000 - 117,000
117,000 - 117,000
Independent non-executive By kHTES
directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi mEelkE 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RUERELLE 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Sun Boquan e 117,000 - 117,000
351,000 - 351,000

Fees paid to or for the executive directors are generally emoluments
in respect of those persons’ other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company. The non-executive and
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for other services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief

executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (EXCLUDING

9. EERAEX (FTREEEMH

DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION) )
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, wages and allowances e LEAREWEFR 3,624,545 2,992,732
Bonus TEAL 150,061 150,061

Retirement benefit expenses RIRAEFIF 2

— Defined contribution plan —ERRHRET & 110,797 89,573
Equity-settled share based payment R AENRMD TR = 2,893,000
3,885,403 6,125,366

The Company operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong
Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF") Schemes Ordinance. Contributions to the
MPF scheme follow the MPF Schemes Ordinance.

Under the MPF scheme, each of the Company (the employer) and its
Hong Kong employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, as defined in the MPF
Schemes Ordinance. Both the Company and its employees’ monthly
contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and contributions
beyond these amounts are voluntary. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested upon payment.

As at 31 December 2022, there were no forfeited contributions
(2021: Nil).

ARAFRERHEATES (BHES )

BIGPINRE - EEERA TR
Bl TS H BRI AT S 5B
PIBALT -

BIERESEE  AQF (ExX) RES
BEESHETRAZREERBRA (TE
R BT EMEN) 5% ML T 811 L4
Ko ARRNRIREEE S AMEREA1,500%
TREE LR BHBEBRSENEKA
BERMY -HRASEHEBNES -

MN20224 12 A31 8 @ BEMER I
(2021 4 : 4#) o
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. A EEESHFMES
The five highest paid employees during the Year included two AEEhEGRRTHEEREMEES
Directors (2021: no Directors), details of whose remunerations are QU2 F - ZEREF) HEMEHNFS
set out in Note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the Year A LIRS c WIHAQFREEKEE
of the remaining three (2021: five) highest paid employees who are THRABRBRT=%(2021F - L&) &K
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: aEFMEENAFESHMEAFBLOT
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, wages and allowances e & NoERL 2,987,124 2,379,124
Bonus TEAL 108,927 108,927
Retirement benefit expenses RIREHIRL
— Defined contribution plan IF_% 1ﬁ§K B 46,500 57,950
Equity-settled share-based payment AR S E RT3 - 2,893,000
3,142,551 5,439,001
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid FEERIIFTETRAERSFIES
employees whose remuneration fall within the following bands is as HEMNBATHEMHAZDT
follows:
Number of individuals
AE
2022 2021
2022 20214
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000 7T 2 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 T2
1,500,000 T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 L%
2,000,000 % 7T - 1
3 5
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11. FEES

Administration fee

Amicorp Fund Services Asia Limited (the “Administrator”) is entitled
to receive an administration fee which is calculated based on the
net asset value of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of
0.11% per annum.

The administration fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee of
USD4,000 plus 7% disbursement charge (2021: USD4,000 plus 7%
disbursement charge) and is payable monthly in arrears.

The administration fee for the Year is HK$402,222 (2021:
HK$399,264). As at 31 December 2022, an administration fee of
HK$66,817 (2021: HK$66,742) was payable to the Administrator.

Custodian fee

Bank of Communications Trustee Limited (the “Custodian”) is
entitled to a custodian fee which is calculated based on the net asset
value of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of 0.04%
per annum. The custodian fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee
of HK$12,500 and is payable monthly in arrears.

The custodian fee for the Year is HK$150,138 (2021: HK$150,469).
As at 31 December 2022, a custodian fee of HK$25,000 (2021:
HK$25,000) was payable to the Custodian.

Management fee

The Investment Manager is entitled to a monthly management fee of
HK$50,000 (2021: HK$50,000) and payable monthly in advance.

The management fee for the Year is HK$600,000 (2021:
HK$600,000). As at 31 December 2022, the management fee of
HK$50,000 (2021: HK$50,000) was payable to the Investment
Manager.

11.

Amicorp Fund Services Asia Limited ([ 17X
ERADBRBRITRERE  HIBE
HERRFRARBNHEREEFEZ
0.11% =& -

THREREBAESEARKIKER4,000ET
7% 2 H 2 (20214 : 4,000 7017 %
SHE)NREBRTARBEL -

AEEITHREREE H402,222 770 (2021
F :399,2648 7T) ° 102022412 A 31
H {THREREE 56681757 (20214 :
66,7428 70) EIS TITEHEREA °

AEE

ZBRITEFRBRAR(TFREAD AR
WEFEEE  HREBEESRIRFART
REERBEEFEZ0.04%E - EE
EAXBARKEKEM12,500/8TTH R R
AREARARXM -

AFELEEA150,1388 7T (20214 ¢
150,46978 7T) ° F2202249F 12 4318 -
L& B /25,0007 7T (20214 : 25,000
BIL) B TFEBEA

EEE

HEEEABEWES A EIE 250,000
77T (20214 : 50,0008 7T) R ERE A
RRATE AT »

REEZEIRE 5600,00078 7T (2021 4F -
600,000/ 7) » A 2022F 12 4318 -
BN THREEEANEEER50,0008
70 (2021 4F : 50,0008 7T) °
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12. TAXATION 12. B8
The major components of income tax charge for the years ended 31 HE2022F K2021F12A31BIEFE
December 2022 and 2021 are: FIBHASEERNA -
2022 2021
2022 £ 20214
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current tax: BIEATR IR -

Hong Kong Profits tax EENEH = -
Deferred tax HEAETIE = -
Tax charge for the year FEHIERX = -
A reconciliation of the tax expenses applicable to loss before tax FRAEEBE ZBRBATEETER 25
using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is HRYERERMESE 2 BAR T
as follows: BROAE -

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Loss before tax BRI A& 1B (52,745,075) (4,980,239)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% HIEEBE16.5% st B W IE (8,702,937) (821,739)
Income not subject to tax M2 WA (77,827) (7,911,866)
Expenses not deductible for tax IR 906,980 594,465
Tax losses not recognised RERBIEEE 7,873,784 8,139,140

Tax charge at the effective rate of 16.5% IR E R K 16.5% st E BT 1H

3B
Xt
I
[
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12. TAXATION (Continued)

Cayman Islands

Under the current Cayman lIslands law, there is no income tax,
corporation tax, capital gains tax or any other kinds of tax on
profits or gains or tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax
currently in effect.

Effective from the date of incorporation of the Company, and for
a period of twenty years, no law that is hereafter enacted in the
Cayman Islands imposing any tax on income will be levied on the
Company.

Hong Kong

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of the Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the Company will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
financial statements as the Company did not generate any assessable
profit for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

At the end of reporting period, the Company has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$586,835,984 (2021: approximately
HK$539,116,081) available for offset against future profits that
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

12. FiE (&)

MERS

B E R B EEY B EM ELRNAM
B/H - RER - ERNEBERIETMEA
TR IR A ) X W e A KB A S AR AR o

BARREMAZ 2 BE -+ FHEA -
B2 BF B 2 12 BR A B0 (E (AT s WA B N 1E
(CIEF G NDFREY R RNNEIE - 6

5k

RIBEANESROANEH MRS - AA
A% 8.25% 2 Tt & 3t A1 & 2,000,000
PETLE AN IE - MR 4R 16.5% 2 B R 8
#92,000,000 7% 7T A 3% Fll 2 B o

AR A RIE = 2022 4 K% 20214612 A
3THIEFES EEE T MERFEF
WA BN SRR GTIRE B TS BB -

RBEHR ARAIBRSAREES
18 #7586,835,984 7% 7T (20214 : 4
539,116,081 7T) A F 7A K 88 7] 4% R A7
BERRICHEF] o BRI & FRHT
ATEAIME - WER TR IEEBERIELER
BEE -
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13.

14.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of basic per share amount is based on the Company'’s
loss of HK$52,745,075 (2021: loss of HK$4,980,239) for the Year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the Year
of 1,254,220,419 (2021: 760,466,052 ordinary shares).

No diluted earnings per share for both 2022 and 2021 were
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for
both 2022 and 2021.

LEASES

The Company as a lessee

The Company has a lease contract for office premises used in
its operations. Lease of office premises has lease term of 3 years
(2021: 3 years). Generally, the Company is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Company. The lease
contract includes extension or termination options which are not
considered to be exercisable by the Company.

(a) Right-of-use asset

The carrying amounts of the Company’s right-of-use asset and
the movements during the Year are as follows:

13.

14.

AAREBEESRAARGE
&R

FRERSEARDFEBEREAA
JEAEARF R AR FEIE52,745,075 8 7T
(2021 £ : [E5184,980,239 8 7t) M AEE
BB T mAR e 19 £01,254,220,419
A% (20214 : 760,466,052 A% & 3@ I%) &t
BB -

AR 2022 F % 2021 F AT E B TEE LR
% o B 722022 6F K2 2021 & - W E 2 5]
FREBERF -

HE

A TEEEBEA

ARG EELHERNPAYWETS
HEAY - WAWERENHBELA=F
(2021F : =F) - —f&ME * AAFT
AEARDAFTAIIATEHEL HHAEE
E-HEANEABTEHRRIIEERE
MARIRIERIER AT BARRITE -
(a) EHAELE

RAREREEERMBERFAZ
g -

Office premises

WAME

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

As at 1 January R1A1TH 890,036 71,411
Additions NE - 1,115,126
Depreciation charge eERX (371,709) (296,501)
As at 31 December W12 H31H 518,327 890,036
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14. LEASES (Continued) 14. HE (&)

ARAEREEA (H)

The Company as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liability (b) HEEE

RAFERNEEREREENEBNT

The carrying amounts of lease liability and the movements
during the Year are as follows:

(c)

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 AT EEREE 924,560 77,107
New leases e - 1,115,126
Payments BN (387,577) (267,673)
536,983 924,560

Analysed into: DR
Current portion mENER 406,525 387,578
Non-current portion ERBEL D 130,458 536,982
536,983 924,560

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases

are as follow:

(0 MNEZEIABEBEENSEMAT

2022 2021
2022 £ 20214
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Interest on lease liability HEAEFE 35,782 30,852
Depreciation charge of TREEENERS
right-of-use asset 371,709 296,501
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEAEFEMNHEE
measurements of lease liability (E:N 75,600 53,704
Total amount recognised in B o B R Y 4R
profit or loss 483,091 381,057
The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities was ERARHEEBENEEERNER

4.89% (2021: 4.89%). 4.89% (20214 : 4.89%) °
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15. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 15. € - ANREAREBERK
RECEIVABLES AND AMOUNT DUE FROM 15 AR FE W AR 42 A I8
BROKERS

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current: FEMmE
Deposit e 126,740 126,740
Current: ey
Prepayments and other receivables T8 < 3R I8 B H il E WK B
(Note) (BftaE) 4,483,150 2,939,686
Amount due from brokers JE W 48 42 A FRIB 10,003 240,723
4,493,153 3,180,409
Note: As at 31 December 2022, the prepayments and other receivables mainly BisE : 722022 F 12 A 31 B - FENFIERE AR
comprised interest receivables and the payment in advance of professional and HEFEeERKANSRENEERRAE
office expenses amounting to HK$2,566,000 and HK$931,000 respectively. 7 5 5Bl 2,566,000 7% 7T 1 931,000 AT °
As at 31 December 2021, the prepayments and other receivables mainly 72021 €12 A 31 B - B FRIE R H M E Y
comprised interest receivables and the payment in advance for consultancy RIBE 265 B S K 5t R AR 7% TR A5 3R
services amounting to HK$908,000 and HK$1,300,000 respectively. 18 5 908,000 7# 7t & 1,300,000 74 7T, ©
As at the end of the reporting period, none of the above receivables AR BISR - bl U SR8 3 4 f8 B ok
is either past due or impaired. VERIERS
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

16. RAFEHEBRBIIKR2EH

BE

2022 2021
2022 20214
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Listed equity securities — Hong Kong thEEES B 12,261,190 27,141,692
Listed equity securities — Australia EEEESF BN - 3,370,853
Suspended listed equity securities LREE 2 LERES
- Hong Kong —&BE - 1,360,000
Investments in private equities B AL A
— British Virgin Islands —EBEZHE 15,968,000 18,682,000
Investments in private equity BERILERE-FS
— Hong Kong 41,448,000 20,430,000
Investments in bond RENES 11,000,000 14,988,781
Investments in promissory notes KB RE R EE - 23,381,302
Investments in funds — Hong Kong KERE S —BHB 35,761,588 -
116,438,778 109,354,628

The fair values of the listed equity securities, except for suspended
listed equity securities, are determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the relevant stock exchanges at the end of the
reporting period.

The fair values of the suspended listed equity securities as at 31
December 2021 were determined by the board of directors based
on the valuation reports of the valuations performed by independent
qualified professional valuer. During the year ended 31 December
2021, an unrealised gain in respect of fair value changes of
suspended listed equity securities amounting to HK$920,000 was
recognised in profit or loss, which was determined based on the
valuer’s opinion about the fair values of these securities as at 31
December 2021. All the suspended listed equity securities were
resumed trading and disposed of during the Year.

EEEE LMERESIN LhE
SEFAFEDBRERBEESR S AR
REHARAERENTSREETE -

Bl %

idid

EFEE FEREFN2021F12 A
BMAZAFEDEEFEREBEVAE
BEEGEMETCHEZHEREE
EoHZE2021F 12831 HIEFE - Ei=
BE I THEEEF A TEEFHNRE
IR U %S 920,000 B TR Bz AHERR - b TD
RIBGEMBEEZEESFN2021F12 A
BNTAZATENERMEE - MEEE
BEZLTHERSESFNAFERNERR
HE .
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16. B A FEFEBRIESIEZSH
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PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted in an
active market. The fair values of the private equities at 31 December
2022 and 2021 have been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out as at that date by independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Company. The valuation of the
investments in these private entities used valuation techniques,
including discounted cash flow projections and adjusted net assets
value methods, and are within level 3 of fair value hierarchy. The
most significant unobservable inputs in the valuation methodologies
included the discount rate on the investment and forecasted future
cash flows.

As at 31 December 2022, one unlisted bond with total principal
amount of HK$10,500,000 (2021: three promissory notes and one
unlisted bond with total principal amount of HK$38,500,000) were
outstanding.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company invested into
three promissory notes and one unlisted bond as follows:

() an unlisted bond (“Unlisted Bond") with a principal amount of
HK$15,000,000 issued by Oriental Payment Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8613), which is listed in Hong Kong. It is
unsecured, carries interest at 10% per annum and matured in
May 2022.

(i)  a promissory note (“PN1") with a principal amount of
HK$11,500,000, which carries interest of 8% per annum and
matured in February 2022. The promissory note was issued by
Gransing Finance Limited (“GFL"), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Gransing Financial Company Limited (“GFCL"), a
private equity investee of the Company. The promissory note
is covered by personal guarantee provided by Mr. Kwok Shun
Tim, the major shareholder of GFCL.
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

a promissory note (“PN2") with a principal amount of
HK$9,000,000, which carries interest of 8% per annum and
matured in June 2022. The promissory note was issued by
Goldstone Financial Press Limited (“GFPL") (formerly known as
iPro Financial Press Limited), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability.

a promissory note (“PN3") with a principal amount of
HK$3,000,000, which carries interest of 8% per annum and
matured in June 2022. The promissory note was issued by
State Innovation Holdings Limited (formerly known as Beaver
Group (Holding) Company Limited) (stock code: 8275), which
is listed in Hong Kong.

During the Year, upon the promissory notes and unlisted bond

matured, the Company entered into several agreements as follows:

On 28 June 2022, the maturity date of Unlisted Bond was
extended to 31 July 2022. Saved as the maturity date, the
terms of Unlisted Bond were remained unchanged. Since the
change of maturity date was within 1 year, in the opinion of
directors, the extension of maturity date did not consider as
modification of financial assets.

On 28 September 2022, the Company entered a disposal
agreement (the "Disposal Agreement”) to dispose the Unlisted
Bond with principal amount of approximately HK$10,500,000
at the consideration of HK$11,000,000, the consideration was
satisfied by cash. Pursuant to the Disposal Agreement, the
disposal would be completed until all consideration is received
by the Company. As at 31 December 2022, approximately
HK$6,000,000 of the consideration was not yet received by
the Company. As such, in opinion of directors, such disposal
has not completed during the Year.

16. RAFEHEBRBIIKR &M
EE (&)

(iii)

(iv)

N 4 %8 /49,000,000 T ~ ¥ F F
E8% st B A5 2022 F 6 H 2 H
WEHER((EHEER2]) « &KX
EEBAeAWEHRBRAR (£
AR (BT 8 25 BT 48 ED Rl
ERAF) BT £AVKELERA
— KRR BB BR AR -

7N 4 %8 /3,000,000 7T ~ & F 7
8% T B A5 2022 5 6 A EI HA
WA R (R EEE3]) - &H
ZEMESS LTHERHERER
~E (A AKX ER (ER) BR
NAE] - RRSE  8275) BT ©

RAFE  RALEBNIELETESE
Hil - ARBIFTZ AT ZEBE ¢

R2022F 6 A28 H I EMEEN
FIEIRIERZE2022F7A31H ° K&
FEARSN - SEETES M BRRIRE
& AREI BB REBIE1F MU
N EEZRAE ERIHBTRA
HemEEMBH -

MR20229F9A28H » ARRE
vHEWRE (THERZED UK
£ 11,000,000/ 7t 1 & A € 54
10,500,000 7L IE ETAE S - X
EBTUREZ M - REBLEHE
HEZHEBRAARKEMBRE
ATSERK 722022412 A31H &
A7) 1 7R W 2 496,000,000 7% 7T HY
RE-Blt  EFRE RAFE
ZHEEFEBARTAK °
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

On 28 February 2022, the Company disposed the carrying
amount of PN1 with interest receivables of approximately
to HK$11,548,932. The consideration was satisfied by the
subscription of 19.9% of sharing equity interest of GFL.
Upon the completion of disposal, the Company classified
the proceeds received as financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss. The gain on disposal of financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss was recognised as net realised loss
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

On 1 June 2022, the Company disposed the carrying
amount of PN2 with interest receivables of approximately
to HK$9,194,863. The consideration was satisfied by the
subscription of 4.73% of sharing equity interest of GFPL.
Upon the completion of disposal, the Company classified
the proceeds received as financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss. The gain on disposal of financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss was recognised as net realised loss
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

During the Year, the HK$3,000,000 principal amount of PN3
was matured in June 2022 and settled by cash.
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The fair value of the promissory notes and Unlisted Bond at 31
December 2021 have been arrived at on the basis of valuation
carried out as at that date by the independent qualified professional
valuer. During the year ended 31 December 2021, promissory notes
and Unlisted Bond amounting to HK$129,917 was recognised in
profit or loss, which was determined based on the valuation of the
investments in promissory notes and Unlisted Bond which used
discounted cash flow projections valuation technique and are within
level 3 of fair value hierarchy. The most significant unobservable
inputs are the discount rate on the investments.

The agreed price of the Unlisted Bond at 31 December 2022
amounted to HK$11,000,000, are within level 1 of fair value
hierarchy. During the year ended 31 December 2022, an unrealised
gain in respect of fair value changes of Unlisted Bond amounting to
HK$511,219.

As at 31 December 2022, the financial assets also included
investments in two unlisted funds, which are measured at fair
value and was categorised as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The
information of two newly invested unlisted funds as follows:

() Goldstone 1 LPF (“Goldstone 1), formerly Gransing 1 LPF,
is a limited partnership fund. Goldstone 1 seeks to achieve
maximum capital appreciation over the life of the Limited
Partnership Fund through equity investments, specifically,
investments in IPOs on securities to be listed on the Stock
Exchange and in private placements by companies listed on
the Stock Exchange. On 12 December 2022, the Company
disposed the listed equities of approximately HK$11,748,358.
The consideration was satisfied by the subscription of sharing
equity interest in the Goldstone 1. Upon the completion of
disposal, the Company classified the proceeds received as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The fair value of the investment in Goldstone 1 is based on net
asset value. As at 31 December 2022, the investment portfolio
of Goldstone 1 were entities listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong.

16.

BAFEEBRRSIR S8
5E (8|

RAEERIEETESFN20214F12 A
BNHMAFEDNREBIAEREE
HEMRZASETHEESL - 82
2021F 12 A1 HILFE AR EERIE
EmEH 129,917 BTN EmER - IR
BIRE A E AR IR IR & R IR S E Rl
EBRATEEREIBNFALERR
FETMBESHHEET SEEMNTAIH
R AEAREIHFE -

ZIELETMESFN2022F12 A31 BEH
EE 411,000,000/ BATFES
BzB AN EZE2022F12 318
IEFE BRIFELTEFRFEEZS 2
REBIZEEST1,21987T °

HZE2022F12A318 eMEENEIE
RREFLITEESNIEE  ERQYE
AEYHHEAATESERIE_HA-
HMRENMEFELTESHERET -

i A REReEE2 (26—
5 RITBEE SR ARARESD)
R—EBREREE 2ARE
B BRRERE - FRERRERK
BT E TR B FM R A R
ERBIAT ETARMNALERE
RERABESHNEBEAFERANE
RE KK ERIE(E © 722022512
A128 AARHE EMRELY
11,748,358 8 7T - RETIARE R
A—RE DA RES T - REE
FIHFEKE - AR R)BUEIR TS
FESEAEAFEFABENS
BEE °

REB—F/ENAFEIER
BEEFEE - 12022912 A31
H &8 RHNREEERTEARE
R TR E RS -
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16. B A FEFEBRIESIEZSH

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued) BE (&)

(i) SWK Dynamic OFC (“SWK") is private open-ended fund (i) SWK Dynamic OFC ([SWK]) &FLE
company with variable capital and long-biased focusing on FMAESQR  HEUEFEARR
Hong Kong and China equity market. The fair value of the RHRE  HEIREBEABRFERKRE
investment in SWK is based on the net asset value. As at 31 % o A SWKIRE KA FEDIEE
December 2022, the investment portfolio of SWK were entities BEFETE - 2022912 A 31
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. B SWKHIREHEG BRRE BB S

RBEMEERE -

Net unrealised gain on financial asset at fair value through profit or EATEEBRERIEZEMEENR
loss of HK$27,794,781 (2021: gain of HK$45,602,564) has been B W a R R /527,794,781 7 7T (2021
recognised in profit or loss. & W Z5 45,602,564 B 70) BRIBZERER
The Company does not own or control more than 20% of the voting AN AN A S E ] — T8 E
rights in any one of these listed and unlisted equity investments. In T RIFLTIREIRE BB 20% FORKE
the opinion of the Directors, the Company is not able to exercise EERR AARREHZEFERERER
any significant influence on the financial and operating policies of AN B R EEBRBIEEMNERTE
these investee companies, and all of these listed and unlisted equity 7 BAERE E2022F X 2021F12 A
investments are not regarded as associates of the Company and are BNHIEFE 2% %S LM RIELTR
accounted for as financial assets through profit or loss for the years ﬁé&ﬁ*ﬁpﬁ}%ﬁﬁﬁ Ik} W/NE]
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. WARIHEB BB AR SRMEE -
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17.AQARIFAE 2T ERE 2 #E
BY THE COMPANY

Particulars of investments held by the Company as at 31 December 72022F 12 8318 - ARQRBRE T
2022 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as RAENEFREEMBERENGTEN
follows: i
Dividend
Net asset received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
REEE
BEARE G 3 B/ AT
FREATEH FHME AAERLA S Wl EERE ks SEEEAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TAL TEn TEn

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or foss
ERATEEBERIR 2 REE

Listed equity securities - Hong Kong

LhgRRs-58

Hanvey Group Holdings Limited Note a 19.45% 19113 10,272 7,660 - 6.88
EREEZRER LT fista

Orient Securities International Holdings Note b 4.99% 1,456 1,646 18,980 - 110

Limited

RAEHESARERERAA i

Jiading International Group Holdings Limited  Note ¢ 0.17% 381 344 100 - 0.23
FRERERERARAT fisc

Private equity security -

British Virgin Islands
LERERS -ABELHE

Gransing Financial Group Limited Provision of quality brokerage, 18.08% 43317 15,968 26,090 - 10.69
corporate finance, asset
management and financial
adviser services to institutional
and individual investors in Hong
Kong and main land China
through its subsidiaries

BReRERERAA REERFENSERENEL
AMBERLAREZREE
Eaf CRRE HEER
Ry heERREES
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued)

(&)

Dividend
Net asset received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
REEE
RRfRE LN 3 B/ AR
FREARER RHHE ARERLA B [ BERE EURE #EEEAM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL Thn Thr T
Financial assets at fair vale
through profit or foss (Continued)
#IFEFEAEL28HE(8)
Private equity securities - Hong Kong
AERERS-FH
Goldstone Financial Press Limited (formerly  Engaged in financial printing 19.97% 34999 26,793 24,120 - 17.93
known as iPro Financial Press Limited) services
SREMLRARAT HBESHE  NEHEORRE
HRERAR)
Gransing Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 19.90% 16,876 14,655 18,580 - 981
business in Hong Kong
AREERRAR REBNERERE
Help U Credit Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 19.95% 19,000 - 12,640 - -
business in Hong Kong
EARBERAR RERNZRERD
Interest
received/ % of gross
Market Yield per Maturity ~ accrued during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business Cost value annum date the Year  the Company
REEE HRRE
Bl/ heE
FREADEH RHHE 28 wE FhEER 38R L HEES BAt
HK$000 HK$'000 % HK$000
TARL AL ThL
Unlisted Bond - The Cayman Island
FLHES-RERE
Oriental Payment Group Holdings Limited ~ Engaged in merchant 10,500 11,000 10% 31 July 2022 1,658 1.36
acquiring business
RN ERERARAA KEMPRERS WNETA3NAE
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD

17. XA RFAFEZETEREZHE

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
Dividend
received/
Proportion Net asset receivable % of gross
of investee's attributable to during assets of
Name of investee Nature of fund capital owned Cost  Market value the Company the Year  the Company
REEE
RERRE ARAEE  Bh/EY EART
FREADEH EHE ARERLA BE [} BERE ke HBEEEAL
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TiEL T TEn
Goldstone 1 LPF Limited partnership fund 81.28% 23,748 22,151 22,150 - 1483
2h-SARARES BRavES 215057
SWK Dynamic OFC Open-ended fund 7.58% 13,300 13,610 13,610 - 91
SWK Dynamic OFC RHiES 1361087

Particulars of investments held by the Company as at 31 December

2021 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as

MR2021F 128318 AR RIEE LT
BBV EWEEFMBFERENFBT

follows: T
Net asset/ Dividend
(liabiity) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market tothe during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
KARES MEEE
BRFRE EE/(88) B/ AL
FRELALR SHKE DEERLH e [ FE EhRE BEEAAM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAL ThAL ThL
Financial assets at air valle
through proft or loss (Continued)
FATEEBRRIIE 2REE(B)
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
IhRERS-5E
Kingland Group Holdings Limited As a subcontractor provides concrete 5.36% 10910 9,729 HK$2.07 millon - 840
demolition service in Hong Kong
and Macau
EREELRARLA RN BENEA AR 20700007

RERRLRIRE
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

134

BY THE COMPANY (Continued)

(&)

Net asset/ Dividend
(liabiity) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market tothe during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
KARES MEEE
BRARE §E/(88) B/ AR
FREQALR SHHE DEERLH e (3! FE EURE HEEAMM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAL TAL THEIL
Financial assets at fair value
through proft or foss (Continued)
RATEFBER K, 2REE(S)
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
LhgERs-54
InvesTech Holdings Limited Providing network system integration 253% 5171 3812 RMB8.80 milion - 3.29
solutions and sales of softwares.
FAERERAT RERBZRRARRNER AR 8,800,007
hEEH
State Innovation Holdings Limited (formerly Engaged in subcontracted bored 9.86% 5,668 3460 HK$7.75 millon - 299
known s Beaver Group (Holding) Company pling works as well as other
Limited) foundation works.
ANERARLE (ARADSE(ER)  WSHRENRTRRAMMETR 77500005 7C
BRAR)
Listed equity security - Australia
LRS- AN
Crater Gold Mining Limited Engaged in producing gold and 285% 2,669 331 AUD(0.4) milion - 291
developing gold and base metal
projects in Papua New Guinea and
Australia.
Crater Gold Mining Limited RERSHENDREN SRS (440,000 T2

FERREARELSERR
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liabiity) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market tothe during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
KARES MEEE
BRARE §E/(88) B/ AR
FREQALR SHHE DEERLH e (3! FE EhRS LEERAM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAL TAL THEIL
Financial assets at fair value
through proft or foss (Continued)
KATEFERENE 2852 (8)
Private equity security - British Virgin Islands
LERERE-ARALRE
Gransing Financial Group Limited Provision of quality brokerage, 18.08% 46,377 18,300 HK$26.77 million - 1580
corporate finance, asset
management and financial adviser
services to insttutional and
individual investors in Hong Kong
and Mainland China through its
subsidiaries
AREREERRLT REBRPEMERANEAR 67100057
MRERLAREERIEE
B8 PRRE AEERRHE
BRREEH
Private equity securities - Hong Kong
LERER% -5
(Goldstone Financial Press Limited (formerly Engaged in financial printing sevices 19.90% 15,000 15,489 HKS2.41 million - 1337
known as iPro Financial Press Limited) in Hong Kong
SRHEHRAERAT AR SRR R 24100007
(WERESHEARFRAT)
Help U Credit Finance Limited Engaged in money lending business in 19.95% 19,000 4,868 HK$13.30 million - 420
Hong Kong
TAHBARLT RERUSRERE 13,300,000 570
HEFEBEREBR AR/ F] 2022 135
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15
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BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Interest
received/ % of gross
Market Yield per Maturity ~ accrued during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business Cost value annum date the Year  the Company
REEE  fADR
B/ #EE
FRENALR EHHE 28 BE FhEER H#A L HEIES ASl
HK$000 HK$'000 % HK$'000
TEn TERL TEn
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or foss (Continued)
RATEEBRZIIEL LREE(E)
Promissory Note - Hong Kong
RARE-FH
Gransing Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 11,500 11,499 8 8February 2022 365 993
business in Hong Kong
BREEARLT REBUSRERR A0%F2A88
Goldstone Financial Press Limited (formerly Engaged in financil printing 9,000 8 21 June 2022 20 7.66
known as iPro Financial Press Limited) services in Hong Kong
SRHEHRAERAT REBR S LR RS 002%6A21H
(HEESHEHRIERAR)
Unlisted Bond - Cayman Islands
FLHES-REHE
Oriental Payment Group Holdings Limited ~ Engaged in merchant acquiring 15,000 14,989 10 24 May 2022 908 12,94
business
RIXNEEERBRAT KEHPRERD 002458 4E
Notes: BT
(a) Hanvey Group Holdings Limited (“Hanvey”) is an investment holding company (a) EEEEERBRAR(EED A —REE

principally engaged in the design and development, manufacturing and
distribution of watch products. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
the audited loss attributable to shareholders of Hanvey was approximately
HK$10,646,000 and the audited net assets attributable to shareholders of
Hanvey as at 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$39,377,000.

ERAE FERERFARAR HERS
IHFHREM - HZE2022F 12 A31HILEFE -
B2 AR R PG B 4 B A% B 1B 49 /5 10,646,000
BT MEFERRERMN2022F12A8318 2E
(TR & EIFE 4 439,377,000 8 7T ©

(b) Orient Securities International Holdings Limited (“Orient”) is an investment (b) RAEMEZFHFBRBRIZERERAR ([RAE
holding company principally engaged in the provision of brokerage service, ) A—RIEEERAR  FEZ2RELLR
underwriting and placing service, margin financing service and money lending % AHEEERY mERFRBLES
service. The unaudited profit attributable to shareholders of Orient for the twelve BEEIRS o 7 EMARRANE E2022F 12
months ended 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$19,264,000 and the A318 1+ = B FEfh 89 R A& 20m A A
unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of Orient as at 31 December #519,264,000%8 7T * MRS EFRRAEE
2022 was approximately HK$380,283,000. 2022F 12 A3 B2 EMARKLEZEEFE

#)4 380,283,000/ 7T °
(c) Jiading International Group Holdings Limited (“Jiading”) is an investment holding (c) ZREBREEERERAR ([ZR]) A —

company mainly engaged in advertising business. For the six months ended 30
September 2022, the unaudited loss attributable to shareholders of Jiading for
the was approximately HK$6,737,000 and the unaudited net assets attributable
to shareholders of Jiading as at 30 September 2022 was approximately
HK$60,277,000.
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2022F9R30HIENEAR @ ZHBEEER
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18.

19.

20.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

18. RERBETEE

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Cash at banks RITE S 27,830,322 2,277,187
27,830,322 2,277,187

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Details of impairment assessment of bank balances is
set out in note 28.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the other payables and accruals
were non-interest-bearing and had an average term of less than
three months.

AMOUNT DUE TO BROKERS

As at 31 December 2022, no amount due to brokers (2021: nil).

BERSTHIAERE BRFFERAE
STEIFI R BRIRA 8 - 3097 A R T
BB BRI 28 o

19. HbEENSRERESTER
2022 F X 2021F 12 H31H - HAwfE

T RRIE K e AT B A T A ALE R T 4
H DR =1{EA -

20. EARELEARIE

2022 12 A31 B WEEMEL A
FIE (20214« #) o
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a
21. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 21. BRESTE
The Company’s Share Option Scheme was adopted on 1 June 2015, RIER 201545 A28 HE 1T 2 IR B 457
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary AEFRBZEBARE  AQFER
general meeting held on 28 May 2015. HEETEIN 2015496 A1 B -
The limit of the number of securities which may be issued upon R 15 B8 A e 51 B S AT ] H fth B AR A 51 2
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised SEEFFITEZ mARITEREREES
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must not BIOERETETZEFHRERE T
exceed 30% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in SHBARRR IR HTHBERMNES
issue from time to time. Z230% °
Details of the share options granted by the Company under the AKRARAFEERBEERETERARQ A
Share Option Scheme to the employees of the Company and the EBERL ZERERFTIFERE
movement in such holdings during the Year were as follows: BRI
Number of share options
#REnA
Closing price
Outstanding ~~ Adjusted of the listed
asat  during period securities
Outstanding Cancelled/ 31 December upon Cancelled/  Outstanding before
asat Granted  Exercised [apsed 2021 and effective Granted  Exercised lapsed asat the date of
Name or Date of Exercise Exercise 1 January during during during 1 January of the during during during 31 December % of options
category of participant ~ grant period price* 2021 the Year the Year the Year 2002 rights issue the Year the Year the Year 2022 issued share granted
R
128318k Lg%
Rung WnE Rung HERE
S8AEE 1818 REE 1818 RER REE  NANE  BEORR  REAHE
S8R RERH i) ke WRTE  REERE  RERGE  EE/%0 MAGE  ANEER  REEEE  RERAE  HE/AR MAGE At WhAE
Erlyes 1970019 197019 - 1872009 0 T - - S VIV ) - - - ams 0 om
£2 WYETA198 WYETA19BZMYE
1R188
Erloyes 7100 - I - - - - - - - - - -
16112021
gE AEDE INEDE
EN0IE13168
Elyee 25 4501 - 2350004 06 - - S s - - - T 0% 0
£3 MESAUE MESAURZNUE
5ABA
Erlges 3B 3B2021 - 2904 019 - B - R T - om0 - T
g8 WIESANE WNESRINBZNUE
878
1306 0850 SBIE BE% 3B - om0 158000 i
* The exercise price and the amount of the share options had been adjusted due * BRENITEERESEEENR2022F6 A%
to the rights issue completed in June 2022. BB BEAR T VB B o
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21. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The fair value of 8,030,326 share options (as adjusted) granted
during the year ended 31 December 2019 under the Share Option
Scheme on 19 July 2019 was determined to be approximately
HK$1,117,000 with reference to a valuation performed by an
independent firm of professional valuer using a binomial model.

The inputs into the model included grant date adjusted share price
of HK$0.2595, expected volatility of 65.51% determined based
on historical volatility of the Company’s shares for the past 510
weeks, expected option life of ten years, no expected dividend and
estimated risk-free interest rate of 1.41%.

The fair value of 38,963,240 share options (as adjusted) granted
during the year ended 31 December 2021 under the Share Option
Scheme on 24 May 2021 and 30 August 2021 were determined
to be approximately HK$660,000 and HK$2,233,000 respectively
with reference to a valuation performed by an independent firm of
professional valuer using a binomial model.

The inputs into the model included grant date adjusted share price
of HK$0.2126 and HK$0.1719 respectively, expected volatility of
71.91% and 71.70% determined based on historical volatility of
the Company’s shares for the past 156 weeks, expected option life
of three years, no expected dividend and estimated risk-free interest
rate of 0.26% and 0.31% respectively.

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the
weighted average share price at the dates of exercise was
HK$0.1719 (2021: nil).

At 31 December 2022, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under
the Share Option Scheme was 15,822,974 (2021: 43,430,396),
representing 1.20% (2021: 5.03%) of the shares of the Company in
issue at that date.

21.

B HERT & ()

HE2019F 12 A31HIEFE - 72019
F7RI19BBEEKRET SR DO
8,030,326 (MR MY A 1B (KCFE) Ty
2E-—RBIUNFNBEMBEMEAS
BAEAETHHEETE AL 1,117,000
BT o

ZEAME ABERERTL B BN
FHEER% (B 0.2595 87T - TEHAK 1R 65.51%
(TBIRBEAR RN B 510 BEYE LR
EmEE)  TEAEREFHI0F W E
TEHAMR B R AT A E1.41% o

HE2021F 12831 BIEFE - 72021
F5H24H % 202158 A30 HIREER
W 215 K 1) 38,963,240 10 BE I HE (4538
B)NATFEDNBE-—RKBIARNEE
HEMEAZEARXETHEEET
#5 R#7660,000 % 7T ) 2,233,000 AT

ZEANHARBELERAELBH®
KABKRESRS A /021268 7T
F0.1719% L - EHEIE71.91% &
71.70% (T3 R IBE AR R Bl IR0 R i 1E 156
RAESIRRMET) - 78 AR I 5
3 - WREFBHAR S RAFHERRFE D
B A0.26% 5% 0.31% °

RAFEETENEREMS - RITFEBR
BRI M{E &£0.17195 7T (2021
FrE) o

2022F 128310 RIEEREE
EREREARITENBRENRGEE
415,822,974 5% (20214 : 43,430,396
) - HMERZEARAEBEITROL
1.20% (20214F : 5.03%) °
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL 22. EBTRAE
Number of Nominal
shares amount
BROHE H{E
HK$
BT
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
Ordinary shares of nominal amount M2022F 12 A31 HEREE
HK$0.04 each at 31 December 2022 0.04 BT &k 1,319,700,274 52,788,011
Ordinary shares of nominal amount M2021F 12 A31 BERMEE
HK$0.04 each at 31 December 2021 0.048 7T 2 & 864,214,887 34,568,595
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RATIRAEE LT -
follows:
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
ERTROEE ERITRE REEE @5t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1H1H 600,149,228 24,005,969 157,910,938 181,916,907
Placing in May 2021 202155 A& 120,029,845 4,801,194 16,694,238 21,495,432
Placing in November 2021 R2021F 11 A& 144,035,814 5,761,432 17,453,655 23,215,087
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F12A318 R
1 January 2022 202291718 864,214,887 34,568,595 192,058,831 226,627,426
Right issue iz 432,107,443 17,284,298 60,495,042 71,779,340
Share issue expenses WD ETRE X - = (514,131) (514,131)
Share option exercised ErftiaikE 23,377,944 935,118 4,758,301 5,693,419
At 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31H 1,319,700,274 52,788,011 256,798,043 309,586,054
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 21 May 2021, a total of 120,029,845 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
were placed at a price of HK$0.18 per share (the “Placing Shares”) for a total
cash consideration, before the related issue expense, of HK$21,605,372. The
issued and fully paid capital of the Company was increased to HK$28,807,163
and resulted in a share premium of HK$16,694,238, after deducting the share
placement expense of HK$109,940. The net proceeds of the Placing Shares,
after deduction of the costs of the Company, were subsequently applied for
the investment in line with its ordinary course of business and pursuant to the
investment objectives of the Company and for the general working capital of the
Company to meet the running expenses of the Company such as rental and staff
costs.

On 2 November 2021, a total of 144,035,814 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
were placed at a price of HK$0.162 per share (the “Placing Shares”) for a total
cash consideration, before the related issue expense, of HK$23,333,802. The
issued and fully paid capital of the Company was increased to HK$34,568,595
and resulted in a share premium of HK$17,453,654, after deducting the share
placement expense of HK$118,716. The net proceeds of the Placing Shares,
after deduction of the costs of the Company, were subsequently applied for
the investment in line with its ordinary course of business and pursuant to the
investment objectives of the Company and for the general working capital of the
Company to meet the running expenses of the Company such as rental and staff
costs.

On 25 February 2022, the Company raised approximately HK$77,265,209,
net of related issue expenses of HK$514,131 by way of the rights issue of
432,107,443 rights shares on the basis of one rights share for every two shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.18 per share. The net proceeds of the Placing
Shares, after deduction of the costs of the Company, were subsequently applied
for the investment in line with its ordinary course of business and pursuant to the
investment objectives of the Company and for the general working capital of the
Company to meet the running expenses of the Company such as rental and staff
costs.

22. EBITRA (&)

B EE -

(a)

R2021F58218 ARRIZREKSR
0.18 B LB & & 120,029,845 B R A
BO.04B T EmAR ([RERMDL - K
BRERSKRE NBRABEITHRIZA
21,605,372 7T « NAFIRIE 81T R R
38 7 28,807,163 7 JU 3 7 A AR 17 34 1B R
16,694,238 7 7T (05 A&7 Fd & 7 52 109,940
HBITIE) o BLE MR B PTIS RIEF 58 (IR AR
NARIMKAR) BERIBBEAARIEE BIZAR
REERAREBKBECZRE BARAARA
—MEEESURNARRZEEREZ (1
HEREIRA) °

MR2021F 11 A28 AR AIEERER
01628 T iL & & £ 144,035,814 & I
AECM4BTHEAR (RERHBL -
LA A & R E (0% A BT A
23,333,802 %70 < AN R E BT KA IR
7R 38 %= 34,568,595 8 7T I B A IR 19 B BR
17,453,654 77T (BRI HELEF 118,716
BTk o BRI K FTERIEFE (IR A
NARIMNKAR) BERIBEAQRIRE BIZAR
HEHBBEBBRIEZRE  BERARQA
—REBEESUBNEAARzEERSZ (I
AEREIMRAE) °

MN2022%F 28258  ARAEEY
77,265,209 % 7t (FIBRMEBE 2 17RI2 514,131
BIL) - AR ANERRG 018 LM RIE
BT A AR (D — IR AR (H 2 &
AR 432,107,443 IR AR AR 1) - BL & AR 19 HY
FTS 5B F 8 (FIBR A A RIM B A 1% ) BE 14 1R
BAARREBEANFTEEARER AR
G  BRRARE—REEE S AN
ARRZEBERT (MHEEEEIMAAR) °
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23.

24,

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of net asset value per share is based on the net
assets of the Company as at 31 December 2022 of HK$142,274,796
(2021: HK$113,735,993) and on 1,319,700,274 ordinary shares
being in issue as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 864,214,887 ordinary
shares).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Company had the following
transactions with related parties during the Year:

Investment Manager - Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited

The Investment Manager is responsible to manage, supervise and
direct the investment, disposition and re-investment of the assets of
the Company, on a discretionary basis, but subject to the investment
objective and restrictions of the Company. The Investment Manager
is entitled to receive management fees for its respective services in
terms of the agreement dated 30 November 2020. Details of the
fees to which the Investment Manager is entitled are provided in
Note 11 to the financial statements. The Directors consider the key
management personnel of the Company comprise of its Board of
Directors, whose remuneration is shown in Note 8 to the financial
statements.
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BREEFEDZAREN2022F12 A
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 25 ZREREsEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial Rt TEFER NSRS R 2 REED
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: —F :
2022 2022
Financial assets SEMEE
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
NS ] REH
ERBRIE % )
LEMEE cREE #Et
HK$ HK$ HKS$
BT BT BT
Financial assets measured NEER AT ENEREE
at amortised cost:
— Financial assets included in deposits ~ —iT AIRE H & BEE - 126,740 126,740
— Other receivables —ﬁﬁﬂﬁ‘é”ﬁﬁﬁ - 2,566,027 2,566,027
— Amount due from brokers — U IR AT - 10,003 10,003
— Cash and cash equivalents -RekReE TE - 27,830,332 27,830,332

Financial assets at fair value through & AF(EEBIEZRTIR
profit or loss: ZERMEE -
— Financial assets at fair value through ~ — IR A FEE BIBHIIER
profit or loss JERMEE 116,438,778 - 116,438,778

116,438,778 30,533,102 146,971,880

Financial liabilities E@mas

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
12 48 85 B A< 51 BR
ZEeMERE
HK$

BT

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: NE#HER AT ENESME E

— Other payables and accruals —Efh T RIE R EET B A 6,595,551
— Lease liability —HEaE 536,983
7,132,534
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 25. RERE SR IA (F&)
(Continued)
2021 20214
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
b2/ NS | b 3ic!
FEREBRIIR BASIBR 2
JERMEE CREE BEr
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Financial assets measured IABEN AT ENSREE
at amortised cost:
— Financial assets included in deposits ~ —&T AR & 0 & RS E - 126,740 126,740
— Other receivables —H bW FRIA - 1,305,918 1,305,918
— Amount due from brokers — R 48 AFR - 240,723 240,723
— Cash and cash equivalents -BekBReEE - 2,277,187 2,277,187

Financial assets at fair value through A FEFEBIEZTIEE
profit or loss: JERMEE
— Financial assets at fair value through — & A FEHB BB
profit or loss LEREBEE 109,354,628 - 109,354,628

109,354,628 3,950,568 113,305,196

Financial liabilities HEEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REE SN BR
ZEmaE
HK$

BT

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: E#ER AT ENSME E

— Other payables and accruals —Hitb N FRIENMEFE R 1,168,447
— Lease liability ~-HEAE 924,560
2,093,007
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 26. A¥{EFE
(a) Fair value hierarchy (a) DAFEZSH
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining RRARRANTEREERERS
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: BT EHAFE

31 December 2022
2022128318

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-8R ] ] Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value through AT EBBEZFIR 2
profit or loss: SREE:
Listed i}
- Equity securities —BRES 12,261,190 - - 12,261,190
Unlisted FLm
— Private equities -fLERE - - 57,416,000 57,416,000
- Bond —&% 11,000,000 - - 11,000,000
- Funds - ¥a - 35,761,588 - 35,761,588

23,261,190 35,761,588 57,416,000 116,438,778

31 December 2021
2021912 A31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E F-R E=1 Bt
HKS HKS HKS HK$
BT o BT BT
Financial assets at fair value through & A FEB BIEHIIE
profit or loss: LEREE
Listed =]
— Equity securities —ERES 30,512,545 - 1,360,000 31,872,545
Unlisted LM
— Private equities —TLERE - - 39,112,000 39,112,000
- Bond -E% - - 14,988,781 14,988,781
— Promissory notes —ERLER - - 23,381,302 23,381,302

30,512,545 - 78,842,083 109,354,628
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

When fair values of listed and quoted investments at the
reporting date are based on quoted market prices in active
market, without any deduction for transaction costs, the
instruments are within Level 1 of the hierarchy.

When fair values of equity securities at the reporting date
represent quoted prices in market that are considered less
than active or consensus prices derived by third parties using
valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly observable from market data, those equity securities
are included within Level 2 of the hierarchy.

For all other financial instruments, the Company determines
fair value using valuation techniques.

Valuations are the responsibility of the Board of Directors of
the Company. The valuation of investments in the suspended
listed equity securities, the private equity securities are
performed by management of the Company and reviewed by
the investment committee of the Company. The investment
committee considers the appropriateness of the valuation
method and inputs, and may request alternative valuation
methods applied to support the valuation arising from the
method chosen. Any changes in valuation methods are
discussed and agreed with the Company’s Board of Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the fair value of
suspended investments which do not resume trading in a short
period of time subsequent to year end, for which there is an
absence of quoted price, was estimated by the management
using guideline publicly traded comparable method (“GPTC")
or adjusted net assets value method, as appropriate and are
within level 3 of fair value hierarchy.
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

In the GPTC method, the fair value is based on prices of stocks
of similar companies which are trading in a public market. A
“value measure”, which is usually a multiple computed by
dividing the price of the guideline company’s stock as at the
valuation date by some relevant economic variable observed or
calculated from the guideline company’s financial statements,
is then applied to the investee’s economic variable and the
resultant valuation is then adjusted by a marketability discount
to arrive at the fair value measurement of the suspended
investments. Such valuation methods are generally accepted
in the industry. The model incorporates unobservable data
inputs, which include market value of invested capital multiples
and the marketability discount ratio, as described below.

For the Year, the Company invested in unlisted funds. The fair
value of the unlisted funds are based on the net asset value
with reference to the prices of underlying investment portfolio
quoted by fund administrator. The investment portfolios of the
fund are based on the quoted closing price in active market of
listed equity securities, and are within level 2 in the fair value
hierarchy.

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted
in an active market. The fair value of the private equities at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021 have been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out as at that date by
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Company and estimated by the management. The
valuation of the investments in these private entities used
discounted cash flows (“DCF"”) projections under income
approach based on estimates made by management of the
Company or adjusted net assets value (“Adjusted NAV")
method under cost approach as appropriate and are within
level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

26. A ¥{EFTE (&)

(a)

DFEER ()

ERAEEAALEIESDET A
FETABURREART SR
NEEERARE - [EEE]B
FREGHR  HFtEIEARNE
Sl A BIRMEE B EE D B ER A
ez AR B RERTFEREL
SEMEHNE THBLEZS B
REANAIRE R AN BEE -
MALEENHEELSTSREE
AR UAGHEFREEZRE
MAFEME - ZAEEIERAR
R RBEIEIE T XAt T A B
FEBAB(BRARERANTE
LTS REBEIEER)

RAFR  ARARRENRIELTE
T AZBFIFLTESHRFEDE
SEESEREARKHMEBIRES
ARERBRBEEEFEEE £E2
BRERATDER EHRERFRE
BSMmWTEREE - YR A
FESFRIE-RZA -

RATFIREOLERELERIRE
PR A T 35 R S (B o 722022 6
12 A31H K&2021412 8318
FLEREN A FETIERERAD A
WEBAH B LS EREEIGERM
RZBERNHEEEEERENMN
FIETESE - RRELEERE 2R
ETIRBERAR R EFTENG
o ME AR ARIRIR 7 ([B6ER
W& l) FBRISAR IR AL A
BEESE ((RAREESFE]D X
(& E) ETHE  WEZRATFE
EWIE=RA -
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Company invested in unlisted bond which are not
quoted in an active market (2021: promissory notes and
unlisted bond). As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of the
promissory notes and unlisted bond have been arrived at the
basis of a valuation carried out as at that date by qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Company. The
valuation of the investments in these promissory notes and
unlisted bond used DCF projections under income approach
based on principal and interest outstanding on estimates
made by management of the Company as appropriate and
are within level 3 of fair value hierarchy. As at 31 December
2022, the fair value of the unlisted bond have been arrived at
on the basis of the agreed price amounted to HK$11,000,000
with independent third party, are within level 1 of fair value
hierarchy.

A DCF analysis involves forecasting the appropriate future cash
flow streams over an appropriate period and then discounting
it back to a present value at an appropriate discount rate.
This discount rate should consider the time value of money,
inflation, and the risk inherent in ownership of the asset or
security interest being valued.

The Adjusted NAV method calls for a summation of the fair
values of all assets belonging to an entity and a reduction of
that aggregate by the fair values of that entity’s total liabilities.
The fair value is represented by the adjusted book value of
total assets net of liabilities owed to any person other than the
beneficial owners of the subject company, after adjusting for
any necessary discounts or premiums to the book values of the
assets and liabilities to reflect their market values.
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

26. A ¥{EFTE (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () AFESHEAE)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATJBEEWAEBYEEER —
inputs — Level 3 F=HR
Relationship of
Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input fair value
TERTEE TABEZHAEH
Bt AVE HERM BAE WAEEE ATEZBE
HK$'000
TER
As at 31 December 2022
R20225 128318
Unlisted equity securities 42,761 Discounted cash Discount rate for 13.96% to  Higher the discount
flows discounting 18.49% rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value, and vice versa
flows
FLmERES BRESR BERHARERE 1396%% HHEEPE ATE
ZERBE 1849%  HMIE - RzHA
Discount rate 15% t0 30%  Higher the discount
for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value, and
vice versa
ROTHRBIEN  15%F30% HROTHRAENE
LIRS REME ATEY
& Rz mA
Unlisted equity securities 14,655  Adjusted net assets  Discount rate 11.40%  Higher the discount
value method for lack of rate of lack of
maketability marketability lower
the fair value, and
vice versa
FEmERES ABBERERE ROTEREMLE 11.40% RO THRA LR
BR% BEEMR  RTE
B - 2 TR
HEFEBEREBR AR/ F] 2022
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 26. AR EFE (&)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATJBEEWAEBYEEEFR —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) E=4k(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input fair value
TERTEE TABERAESR
B AVE HERN BAE WAEEE AVEZBEEZ
HK$'000
TER
As at 31 December 2021
R2021512A318
Equity securities in Hong Kong 1,360  Guideline Market value of 0.36  Higher the Sales, higher
publicly traded invested capital the fair value, and
comparable multiples to Sales vice versa
BRERES method REAZTA weEmss . ATE
FHAELR FAHER BE - RZTA
sl Marketability 50%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value, and vice
versa
miGnEENE MiammE Rl -
DYEBE R
Unlisted equity securities 33,682 Discounted cash Discount rate for 11.32% to  Higher the discount
flows discounting 16.43% rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value, and vice versa
flows
FLmERES HERRATR BERHRERE N3RN%ZE HREYE ATE
BB K 16.43% HIE - R2 A
Discount rate 15% t030%  Higher the discount
for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value, and
vice versa
BTGB ) 15%%30% fRAOmEREERR
% RxkHe NTEY
& RZA
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 26. X F{EFHE (&)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATJBEEWAEBYEEER —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) E=4k(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input fair value
TERTEE TABEZHAEH
Bt AVE HERM BAE WAEEE ATEZBE
HK$'000
TER
As at 31 December 2021
R2021512A318
Unlisted equity securities 5250 Adjusted net assets  Discount rate 11.40% to  Higher the discount
value method for lack of 15.80% rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value, and
vice versa
FLEmERES REEEFENE BHOMERBEN 1140%E  BOmGRBIERER
BEE 1580%  BREHEF AFEHL
& R2mA
Promissory notes 23.381 Discounted cash Discount rate for 7.61% to  Higher the discount
flows discounting 11.29% rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value, and vice versa
flows
FRARE MERER MERARERE 761%% HREESG ATE
ZHRE 1129%  #E R2FA
Unlisted bond 14.989  Discounted cash Discount rate for 9.82%  Higher the discount
flows discounting rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value, and vice versa
flows
MRS BRRER BREARERE 982% HEREHE ATE
ZBRE B - Rz A
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Quantitative information of significant unobservable
inputs - Level 3 (Continued)

The fair value measurements of the investments in private
equities, suspended listed equity securities, promissory
notes and listed bond are recognised as Level 3 fair value
measurements.

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during
the Year are as follows:

(a)

. AV E ()

DFEER(FE)

EATUBFEHAENEEER -
EZR(H)

B

EkiE BEEEZ EHEmE
o EARBERETEFREZA
FEFBERRE=-RATEFE -

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

HK$ HK$

BT BT
At 1 January Bm1A1H 78,842,083 41,653,344
Purchases #E 36,875,196 60,971,254
Sell & (21,860,000) (17,000,000)
Settlement we (7,500,000) -
Transfer from level 3 to level 1 NE="REBEEE R (10,488,782) (3,358,344)
Total loss recognised in profit and loss A 1Bz NRER 2 B 1B 4258 (18,452,497) (3,424,171)
At 31 December ®12HA31H 57,416,000 78,842,083

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the total
gains or losses recognised, including those for assets held at
the end of reporting period, are presented in profit or loss
in “net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss”.
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Quantitative information of significant unobservable
inputs - Level 3 (Continued)

During the Year, the Company reclassified an Unlisted Bond
from Level 3 to Level 1 since price of Unlisted Bond was agreed
with independent third party.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
reclassified two listed equity securities from Level 3 to Level 1
following the resumption of trading of the investments. Those
financial assets are namely Town Health International Medical
Group Limited (stock code: 3886) and Lerado Financial Group
Company Limited (stock code: 1225).

Transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy, are deemed to
have occurred at the end of the reporting period.

The amount shown above represented the fair values based on
last traded price of the security prior to trade suspensions.

During the Year, these were no transfer of fair value
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and a transfer of
HK$10,488,782 out of Level 3 fair value measurement.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no
transfer of fair value measurement between Level 1 and Level
2 and a transfer of HK$3,358,344 out of Level 3 fair value
measurement.

The Company did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

26. A ¥{EFTE (&)

(a)

DFEER ()

EATTBFEHAENEEER -
EZR(HE)

RAFE  HREBIE=TTHE
FLEMEZFNER  ARFHIEL
MESHE=REIDERE R -

HZE2021F12A31HILEFE - &
NARNREEEREZRBMEBELT
BEESRE - RETIEEE—
F-ZEERMEERFRERER
EEBR AR (MDA 3886)
REKSBEBGRDA (RN
g% 1 1225)

DNHESR R RNEREEG S
R|BEMRDELE -

EXAREBENEENESFNEE
BEZAIRERHEZAFE-

RAREE  F—REFE - HAFE
rEMITEERE BE=ZHAF
Azt S8 H 10,488,782 7 7T, °

HZE2021F12A31BLEFE &
—REF_HATFEAEZEL
EEE E-HAFEFESES
3,358,344 7T °

RAB)R2022F & 2021F12 A

31 B EAE IR AP EAEN SR
BfE-
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27. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the Year, the Company disposed the promissory notes
with carrying amounts of approximately HK$20,743,794. The
consideration was satisfied by the subscription of 19.9% and
4.73% of sharing equity interest of GFL and GFPL respectively.
Upon the completion of disposal, the Company classified the
proceeds received as financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss.

During the Year, the Company disposed the fair value of listed
equities to approximately HK$11,748,358. The consideration
was satisfied by the subscription of sharing equity interest
in the Goldstone 1. Upon the completion of disposal, the
Company classified the proceeds received as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

During the Year, the Company did not have additions to right-
of-use asset and lease liability, in respect of lease arrangements
for office premises (2021: HK$1,115,126).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the redemption
receivable from a private equity fund, namely Quasar Global
Selection SPC Fund — Shenzhen Qianhai Glory Fund SP, of
HK$2,782,338 was transferred into the shares of private
equity, namely Forever Best Investments Limited.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
entered into a contract for consultancy services by converting
two of the expired promissory notes amounted HK$700,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
acquired additional shares of a private equity security, namely
Gransing Financial Group Limited, amounted HK$3,578,000
by converting one of the expired promissory notes.
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RAFE  RARWEGENIAE
MEREZHNERAREEREE
BERNE (20214 1 1,115,12678
JT) °

HZE2021F12A31HIEFE - fL
SREES (BARTBEB A
ARBIESFYFIBEEFRE
HeBIHEE) BREWKIEF -
2,782,338 ST ¥E VEFL L AR HE oK
EBRRARIMRG -

HZE2021F12A831HILEFE - K
NAEIFEBEHE PR D E B
AER FIUEAREEH 28
/700,000 7T °

HE2021F12A31BLEFE &
NABBERE T —HE 5 H A&
HEE WETLEREZSFRE
CREBMARARMNEINGG &
%8 53,578,000 7T -
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27. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

27. BERERMHE (&)

(b) REMEEFHZEELEH

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 January W1HA1H 924,560 77,107
New leases entered BEI#HEE - 1,115,126
Repayment of principal portion of
lease liability BEHEARNASI (387,577) (267,673)
At 31 December ®12HA31H 536,983 924,560

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and
protection of shareholders’ value. The ultimate responsibility in
defining and maintaining the Company’s risk control framework,
setting the appropriate risk parameters for the Company and in
continuously monitoring compliance of the Company’s portfolio with
the investment objective and policies and investment restrictions lies
with the Board of Directors of the Company, that will be advised by
the Investment Manager.

A risk committee consisting of executive director and an
independent non-executive director has been formed to monitor the
operational and portfolio risks to the Company. The risk committee
will monitor the Investment Manager including reviewing whether
the investment objective and policies and investment restrictions
are being followed by the Investment Manager. In case of any
deviation, the risk committee will discuss deviations with the
Investment Manager immediately and monitor any agreed remedial
action. For all material deviations the risk committee will formulate
recommendations to the Board on the appropriate remedial actions
to be made. The risk committee will meet on a monthly basis, or
more regularly if a meeting is requested by any risk committee
member.

8. MBEREERBEREE

AATEELREE BRI EIE R RER
REE - ARAEFTEEBERATELRE
ARBHRABRIEFIER REARAA
EOREEBESBRBEERARTNKRE
HAENERERE BIE LB ER
MERET RETEARLRAE=ES
RHER -

ARACRIBEBREES  KEEEH
TEFRBIFHTES  UEELAR
AmEERREAARAR -RREE®
HERKREEEANKER  BREEAR
EEEANERERRE BRERBRME
AR - WA EMAREE  RRZEeH
Bl B E IR ABN RBEB L ER
EAERENERITE HRAEEX
MREEERN  AREZBEERAESTER
HEREGEEMBITENEZ - BARZE
EARE R MEMNEARKREZEESK

BERANSEINTERSHRE -
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and
the value of individual securities. The Company is exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as
listed equity securities and investment in private equities which are
classified in the statement of financial position as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss in Note 16 as at the end of the
reporting period.

The sensitivity analysis below demonstrates management'’s best
estimate of the effect on the loss and net assets attributable to equity
holders of the Company due to a reasonably possible change in
equity indices or fair values of the listed investments with all other
variables held constant. In practice, the actual trading results may
differ from the sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be
material.

Listed equity securities

The Company’s investments in listed equity securities are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and Australian Securities Exchange.

The market equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of
the reporting period, and their respective highest and lowest points
during the years were as follows:

IR R B E R

MR B R ERZHEEOKTE RER
EHEEZHMBERNERESLSLTE
TERE R o NS BRA R R FEE
HWREEERRIRE DR AENERK
B ZERESERLETREREELER
MR EANERIE AT EE BB
AEBMEENNR 2 ALERERE (M
16) ©

N THREIMIREEMBEMEE
FREFETENERT  EREHRFZEH
HEMREZATFEREAEEHFE
RABEDRFEARIGERREEFE
FRER R EMRG - EEEF  BEXS
BRUNGETNNHRESTEMTE
ERHGEKX -

LR EF

RRAFZ ETREEESFREIRE B
R RRMNE SR ST LT o

FRAEREHRRNFORZ B EERH
BRI TIERRXZANT ST
g UREAREFESEENER LRE
RELAR

31 December 2022
2022512 H31H

High/low
&K

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BB -BEEH 19,781.41  25,050.59/14,597.31
31 December 2021 High/low
20214512 A31H =/ 1K

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BE—IBEEH 23,397.67 31,183.36/22,665.25
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)
Listed equity securities (Continued)

2022

28.

IR E SRR ()

L EE ()

2022 &

% of reasonable
possible change
of the relevant

BERREERERBE (H)

Change in loss
and net assets

Relevant market index Beta benchmark index (before tax effect)
HEEEEHEE FEREEFELSH
HETSEY 2 AR BN E 2 (BRBLFE L AT
HK$
BT
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index & — B4 5 & 0.114 +10 +139,778
2021 20214
% of reasonable
possible change Change in loss
of the relevant and net assets
Relevant market index Beta benchmark index (before tax effect)
s TE%(/—\IE EEREEFEE
TEEE T S & HE B3 EE =R (BB &)
HK$
BT
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index &8 — B4 0.337 +10 +1,074,105
Private equities RERE

At 31 December 2022, the loss (2021:
decrease/increase by approximately HK$5,741,600 for the private
equities (2021: HK$3,911,200) should the fair values of the
investments increase/decrease by 10% (2021: 10%).

loss) before tax would

MR20229F12 A31H

3R/ T 10% (

CRIRE 2 AFE
20214 : 10% ) * fk

SEREZBEATEER (20214F @ FHig)
S B4 5,741,600 7 7T (2021 4F

3,911,200 7T) °

o BT

KERERRAR/ Fik 2022
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()
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AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
Exposure to liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the
Company could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected.
To limit this risk, management monitors the Company’s liquidity
position from time to time.

The Company aims to maintain sufficient cash to meet its liquidity
requirements by the ongoing monitoring of cash positions and
future cash flows. The following table summarises the maturity
profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within six months equal their
carrying amounts, as the impact of discounting is insignificant. The
table also analyses the maturity profile of the Company’s financial
assets (undiscounted where appropriate) in order to provide a
complete view of the Company’s contractual commitments and

RBE SRR

MBEEERTIEARRBEHARTE
MRS AINEREEEESRAR
METHER - RBESEBRR AR
BRI RE B SRAR AT E R BT - RRH
R ERESTRERARFTNRY
B2 -

ARAFEERR RN R ARKE SR
EEABAMES UnERBES
ER e TRERGHARNRRSREN
AARRFEREENDEHIBTR - AR
BEEWITEKX - NEARDEN &R
EREEREE -ZRTOMARFSHE
BEEMIMBER CREWE - WEE

NEBRRARBNEHEELRBDE

liquidity.

The maturity grouping of financial liabilities is based on the CERAEMNHSHOBETERBREHE
remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the EZENNNPHENBTHB WX S5EH A
contractual maturity date. When a counterparty has a choice of ERERER AEBIERELRRT
when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest RERBINOEIRA -

period in which the Company can be required to pay.

Analysis of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss into
maturity groupings is based on the expected date on which these
assets will be realised. For other assets, the analysis into maturity
groupings is based on the remaining period from the end of the
reporting period to the contractual maturity date or, if earlier, the
expected date on which the assets will be realised.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2022

BREE BRI R AT AN
TREESMIERZEZEERERN
Bt EH AR HMOENEMEESD
MHERBRSHREANIH AR
THIR % (HER) ZEE/ERNE
SPHR



Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2022 2022 12A31H

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REELER (F)

At 31 December 2022 " 202212 A31H

3to Contractual Total

Less than less than 1t05 No fixed  undiscounted rrying

On demand 3months 12 months years maturity  cash flows amount

3EAE BEE  ANRNAR

REX  HW3ER  HWNER 1258 38R Reiig REAE

HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

B BT BT B BT BT B

Financial assets included in deposits HARSNERARE - - - 126,740 - 126,740 126,740

Other receivabls Rt - 1657808 908,219 - - 2566027 2566027

Amount due from brokers Elg AR 10,003 - - - - 10,003 10,003
Financial assets at far value through RATERAREIR SRAE

profit or loss 12,261,190 - 11,000,000 - BA71588 116438778 116,438,778

Cash and cash equivalents BelBe%h 27,830,332 - - - - 80332 27,8303

Total financial assets SHAESR 40,101,525 1,657,808 11,908,219 126740 93177588 146,971,880 146,971,880

Other payables AtERFE - 6595551 - - - 6595551 6,595,551

Lease liabilties EEEE - 105,840 317,520 131712 - 555,072 536,983

Totalfinancial iabltes SRAREE - 670139 317,50 131,712 - 115063 713534

BT EIRE AR AR / F5) 2022 159
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2021

28. MBEREEEERBE (&)

RBETRERE (&)

B2021% 12 A31H

3to Contractual Total

Less than less than 105 Nofied  undiscounted aning

On demand 3 months 12 months years maturity cash flows amount

JERE BEE  AOFMR

B2k OW3ER OR2EA 155F gLl BenE ERafE

HKS HKS HKS HKS HS HKS HKS

A o o o o o o

Financial assets included in deposits TAEENERAE - - - 126,740 - 126,40 126,740

Other receivables At EWEE - 908,219 397,699 - - 1305918 1305918

Amount due from brokers BN ASE 240,724 - - - - 240,724 240,724
Financial assets at far value through ROTERAREIR SRAE

profit or loss 0512545 11498521 26871562 1360000 39112000 109354628 109,354,628

Cash and cash equivalents BelBe%h 2271186 - - - - T 227718

Totalfinancial assets SHEELE 303045 12406740 27,269,261 1486740 39,112,000 1133051%  113305,1%

Other payables AtERFE - 11846 - - - 1846 1118446

Lease liabilies figeR - 105,840 317520 555,072 - 97843 94,560

Totalfinandial liabiltes CHEREEE - 122486 317520 555,072 - 209878 2043006

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2022
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
and future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
interest rates.

The majority of the Company’s interest rate exposure arises from
cash and cash equivalents and margin accounts payable to brokers.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s
profit or loss for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of the
profit or loss for the year (before tax) is the effect of the assumed
changes in interest rates on:

- The net interest for one year, based on the net cash position
held at the end of the reporting period.

- Changes in fair value of investments for the year, based on
revaluing fixed rate financial assets at the end of the reporting
period.

In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the below
sensitivity analysis and the difference could be significant.

Net exposure

8. MBEBREEBZERBE (&)

2= = Bz

MEEBREEHTIARRKRSREN
BEREE T IHH R E MR R

ARRABAFMMERBRRERAE RRE
FENENELEAREBESRAE

TRB A R B R T
ARAAERBAEYFIEHA 2T
B0 G - A IR 3 (R AT) B
EREFENBREBYUTIEENY
B8 -

i

- ERWEPRMFFREARZ —

FRFSFE -

- ERBEPRERTEEMEEZ

FRREDTERD -

EFEL ERXZEEF AT ARG
EOoWMEBEMERBEZRRARE -

Sensitivity  Sensitivity of

of interest changes in

Change in income/ fair value of
basis point (expense)  investments
BN/ REATE

EX2® (XHBRE SINHRE
HKS HKS

BT BT

2022 2022
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkHe%E
2021 2021 F
Cash and cash equivalents RekRe%E

27,830,332

2,277,187

+50 +139,152 -

+50 +11,386 -

FETEEREBR AR / FIR 2022
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()
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AND POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. Since
the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the
Board of Directors considers the Company’s exposure to foreign
currency risk to be minimal; as such no sensitivity analysis has been
presented in these financial statements.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing to discharge an
obligation. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is monitored by the
Investment Manager on an ongoing basis.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash
equivalents, promissory notes and investments placed with DBS
Bank Limited, Public Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and Bank of
Communication Trustee Limited, which management believes is of
high credit quality.

The credit risk on amounts due from brokers is limited because most
of the receivable amounts are from the investments sold which will
be settled shortly after trade date.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event the
counterparties fail to perform their obligations without taking into
account of any collateral held as at the reporting date in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
those assets as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2022
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management BEXER

As a result of the ability to issue and repurchase shares, the capital of BRANRREETREBRRGD 26

the Company can vary depending on subscriptions to the Company RRAMEREREAR QR RE R ERD M
and repurchases by the Company. The primary objectives of the B - ARBERERE T EZBETRE
Company’s capital management are to safeguard the Company’s RABZHBEEREFTERREEBR
ability to continue as a going concern and to invest the capital in ERMMKREBAREAERR 2IRER
investments meeting the description and risk exposure indicated ANERZREN - HEBEARBARAT]
in the Company’s prospectus. The Investment Manager manages WREERRBEREEARARNAINER o
the capital of the Company in accordance with the Company’s KRB PNZINPHEINH E AR E KA R o

investment objectives and policies. The Company is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

29. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 29. REHRRER

There is no significant event after the reporting period. WEMBEMEEMNEKRSIE -

30. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30. B iE Rk AVHL A

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by KB HHERD N 2023 F3 30 HEEZS
the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023. GHE R -
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Company ARFZAAEATBRFEE 7 EEREENAEB
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited #1Z (B D B KEZMERE) HylwT
financial statements is set out below:

RESULTS E 4

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
BZ2n2F HZ20M1F  HE200F  HE019F  HE018F
12A31H 1273318 12A31H 1273318 12A318

LEE LEE LEE HEE HFE
HK$ HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
REVENUE WA 3,116,109 2,547,989 3,417,096 5,447,693 9,043,558
LOSS BEFORE TAX BT A 1B (52,745,075) (4,980,239)  (31,106,691)  (34,070,940)  (92,959,437)
Income Tax FTigH - - - - -
LOSS AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AR L@ ERZH AMES
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO FABERZABELES
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY (52,745,075) (4980,239)  (31,106,691)  (34,070,940)  (92,959,437)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20214 20204 20194 20184
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS
BT B BT B BT
TOTAL ASSETS EEWBE 146,535,303 115,829,000 77,610,666 72,072,506 91,696,300
TOTAL LIABILITIES BlEEE (2,132,534) (2,093,007) (6,497,953)  (10,631,106)  (18,529,266)

144,402,769 113,735,993 71,112,713 61,441,400 73,167,034
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